ETIHAD ETISALAT COMPANY
(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December 2017
Together with
Independent Auditors’ Report



Contents

F N 814 0 R XS] oo o D SO PP
Consolidated statement of financial POSILION............uueiiiiiiiiiii e e s G
Consolidated statement of Profit OF I0SS.........ceiiiiiiiiiiii e e Qe
Consolidated statement of COMPrenNeNSIVE INCOIME.........coiiiiiiiiiie e 10.....
Consolidated statement of CNANGES 1N @QLITY ........uueeiiieiiiie e 11...
Consolidated statement Of CaSh fIOMS ........ouiiiiiii e 12.....

Notes to the consolidated financial StAEMENLS.......ociiveriiieieee e e e e e e e 1362



KPMG Al Fozan & Partners Taleakane +8E8 11 E74 E500
Cartified Public Accountants Fax +388 11 574 BS00

EFMAG Tower Imparnat e kprrg cornysa
Zalahudesan & Ayoubl Aosd

7. 0. Box 87876 Licarse MNa. 4611323 issued 11/37992
Abyadh 11663

Kingoam of Saud) Ambia

Incependent auditors report

To the Shareholders of Etihad Etisalat Company
{A Saudi Joint Stock Company)
Riyadh, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Aeporl on the dudd of the Consalidated Hpanoa Stataments

We have audited the consolidated financial stetements of Etthad Etisalat Company (“the Company”) and its
subzidiaries (" the Group ™), which comprise the consalicated staternen of financial positon as at31 December
2017, the consolidated statermants of profit or loss, comprahensive Income, changes in equity and cash flows
for the vear then ended, and notes, compriging significant acoounung polickes and other explanatory
irfarmnation,

Im g opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial stetemeants present fairky, in ali material respects, the
consalidated financial postion of the Group as at 31 Decernber 2007, and ns consolidated financial
performance and its consolioted cash flows for the year then ended in sccordance with ntermational Finencial
Aeporting Standards {“IFRS") that are endorsed in the Kngdom of Saudl Arabes and other stendards and
pronouncements issued by the Saudi Organzetion for Certified Public Accountants (SCCPA).

We conducted our audit in accordance with intermational Standards on Auditing that are endorsed in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibdities for the Awdit of the Consolidated Finenciel Stetements section of our report. We are
indapendent of the Group in accordance with the prolessional code of conduct and ethics that are endorsed in
the Kingdom of Saudi Arshia that are refevent to owr audit of the consolidated financial staterments, and we
have fulfilled our other sthical responsibilities in acoordancs with (hese requerements.

We baelieve that the audit evidence we have cbiained s sufficient and approgriate to provide a basis for aur
CpHEnIan,

Ky Awdil Manams

Koy audit matters are those matters that, in our protessianal judgrant, ware of most significance in our audit
of thé consolidated financial staterments of the current year, These matters wers addrassed in the contaxt of
our audit of the consolidated financlal staterments as & whole, and in forming our opinton thereon, and wa do
not provide a separate opimion on these matters,
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Key Audn Matiars [Comtirusd)

The Kfry aikn rrsits

| Revanue recognition

See Note 26 1o the consclidated finanos! statermnents.
| There is an inherant risk relating to the completenass and
|accuracy of recorded revenue given the complexity of
the systems, the high wvolumes of data and the
combination of different servicaes into differant products
{whach are sold 8t varying prices,

Significant management judgmeant can ba required in
[ determining the appropriate maasurament and tming of
‘recognition of differant elerments of revenue within
!hunu:lndprnmm.

Due to the estimates and judgment imvalved in the
(apphcation of revanue recognition standards and the
!mn-plaxiw of the ralated [T systarms and processos, we
‘have identified this matter 25 a key audit matter,

Impairment of goochwill
Sesa Mote 9.1 to the consalideted fnancal stbements

Az @ result of psst scquimitions, the Group carses
‘capitalised pocdwill with a value of SR 467 milllon &= at
31 Decamber 2017. Mamagement performs an
impairment assessmentan &n annual basis as required
by 1AS 36 Impairnent of Assets, The impairmment
assessment for 2017 has been performad at the Group
leval which 15 consistant with tha judgrmant that thea
Group has & single oparating segment as discussed in
Mote 33 to the financial statements.

How 1P mallor Wwias sdiiassac i o il

In responding to this area, our sudit procedures
included testing of relevant controls and
substantive procedures. In particular

# Asspssing the appropnateness of the
FEVETILE recogrition policy that is apphied 1o
different products  and cormbinaton of
prodiscts o essass whather it s 0
accordance with the applicable accounting
framework;

& Aszessing, with the assistence of our
imternal  |T speciafists, the design,
implarmeniation arid oparating
affectiveness of menagement’s key internal
contals over tha IT anvicanment in which
the business svslems operata, including
BCcCASs controbs, program chenge  conirals,
program  development  controls and 1T
operation controls;

» Assassing with the essistance of our intermal
IT specialists, the design, implementation
and oparatng effectivaness of
management’s key intemal IT controls over
tha completerass end sccuracy of rating and
Bl generation and the end o end
reconciiation controks from the rating and
billimg svstems 10 the eccounting systam;

s Performing  tests on the ecowracy of
Customer jnvolce generetion on a sample
basis and testing the credits and discounts
appiied,

# Performing data analvtics and analytical
revienes of significant revenue streams;

* Performing specific procedures o test the
completeness and accuracy of adjustments
redating o muttiple element contracts,

We performed an evaluation of managemenis’
assessment of the operating sagment based
on the oritena included in IFRS 8 Operating
sagrments, Our evaluation included discussion
with managemeant, review of the intema
repocting - structure, the decsion  meking
process and how resources are allocated
among busiress units of the Group, We
subseguently  evaluated the impaimment
aszessmant made by management to also
ansura they were in accordance with IFRS,
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Eiry Audit Matters {Continwsd)]

Tha kivy guchl matis

.Implfm;nnfumm'ﬂ[hmmm

The determinaton of recovesable amount, being the
highar of fair value less costs to seil and value in use,
|requires judgment by management in both identifying
|end then valuing the operating segment. Recoverabie
emaunts are based on managarment’s view of variables
tguch as future average revenue per user [ARFL),
| average customer nembers and custarmar churm, iming
gnd spproval of cepital expenditure, spectrim and the
appropriate discount rate.

i'l.-'-.l'a considerad goodwill impainment 1o be a key audit
{matter dus to the axtant of judgment and assumplons
linvalved in the assessmeant procass

Capitalisation practicas and useful lives of Property and
Eouipment

Sea Mote B to the consolidatad financial statements

The carmying value of Proparty and Equipmant ["PPE"H
and the related degreciation charge are Impacted by
management judgments which includa:

s The decision on whether 1o capitelise or expensa;

« The annug! esset useful (ife review Including chenges
in techrologies and the Group's strateay;

= Thetimeliness of the transfar of sssets out of Cagital
Work in Progress;

# Review of the amount being paid as capitaf advances
(and yet 1o be capitalizad),

The details of critical aceounting judgrents and cermying
valups of PPE are given in Notes Gand 3 respetthely.

We have considersd capitalisation to be & key awdit
rmatter due to the significance of the valee of PPE and
the judgement and assurmptions required in the process
of PPE capitmlization and itz related usefid life
petarmination

FOW The MMiEiter Was ararassad o our Sutil
Qur  procedures  included  chellenging
management on the suitabiity of the
impairment mode! and reasonsblenass of the
assumptions  through  pedorming  the
foilowing:

®» Benchmarking the key market refated

assumplions  in managemeant’s  valuation
modeds  with industry  comparators and
assumptions made in pricr years including
revenua  end margin | trends,  capital
expenditure  on  nebwork  assets  and
spactrurn, market share and custorner
churh, aganst axiernal data where svailabla,
utilizing our intemal veluaion specialists;

# Recalcwlation of the discount rate by our
intarnal valuation spacialists using extbarmal
irfor rnation ard COTTanson o
management’s assumptions;

® Testing the mathematical accuracy of the
cash fliow moded and agreaing relevant data
o the Board approved strategic long teem
plan;

# Asmessing the reliability of management’s
forecast through & revew of  actual
performance against previous forecasts;

® Asseasing and wvalldating 1ha
appropriateness of the disclosures made in
the financial statements.

We tested controls in place ovar the PPE
oyocle, eveleated ihe appropristeness of
capitefisation practices, performed tests of
details on costs capitalised and assessed the
timelinass of the transfer of assets out of
Capital work in progress and capital advances.

D procedures included chaflenging the

hadgrreents made by management,
Inuicireg:

# The nature of the underlying costs
capitafised as part of tha network roll-out:

& The appropratensss of asser useful livas
utilised in the cakoulation of the depreciation
charge.




Ky A Matiors [Contmusd)

Uhon gy Auati} rodrttoe

Change in financial reporting framework
| Sae Nate T 1o the consolidated financial statermants

|For all years up to and Ineluding the year anded 31
December 2016, tha Group prepared and presented its
jconsalideted financis! statements in accordancs with
|generally accepted accounting standards in the
Kingdem of Saudi Arabia issued by SOCPA,

For the financial years commencing 1 January, 2017, the
|appicable reguiations require the Group to prepane and
presant  its consolidated financis  statements  in
aordancs with  Intematonsl Franoal  Regarting
Standards &3 issued by the International Acooumting
Standards Board and endorsed In the Kingdom of Saudi
#ratia and other standerds and pronouncements that are
issuwad by SOCPA (IFRS as endorsed in the Kingdom of
Saudi Araka),

Accordingly, the Group has prepared s consclidated
financial statements, for the yeer ended 31 Decemnber
2017, urder IFRS 25 endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia using FRS 1 - “Fist ime Adoption of Intematianal
Financigl Reponing Standards” [IFRS 1L

As part of thes transition to (FRS as endorsed i the
Kingdorm of Saudi Arshis, the Group's managemant
performed & detailed gap snalysia o identify differences
bebween the previous reportng frameswork and IFAS gs
endorsad i the Krgdorm of Saudi Arabéa, datarmmed the
fransition adpustments in light of this gap analyzes and
refevant requirermems of IFRS 1, and assessed the
pocitions! distiogunes reguired m the finencisl stetemnents.
We considered this as a key sudit matter as the
transitonal adjustments due to tha change In tha
financial reporting frameworks and Tansition ralated
dizcioswres in the finencial statements requine
additional ettention during our sudit

=W The mattor Wk addmessed in O Budit

| We performed the following procedures in

relaton o change in firancial reporing
framework:

» Congiderad the Group's govermancs procass
sround the adoption of IFRS a8 endorsed in
the Eingdonn of Saudi Arabis, espacially, in
relation to matters requiring managament 1o
Brarcise s juggrmeant;

Chitained an understanding of the analysis
paerforrmad by management to [dantify all
gignificant diferances between previous
reporting framework and IFRS as endorsed
in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia which can
irmpact the Group's financisl siatemants:

» Evaluated the results of menagpement's

analysis and key decisions takan in respect
af the transition using our knowledpe of the
relevant requirements of the IFRE as
endorsed in the Kingdorm of Sawdl Arabia and
our enderstanding of the Group's business
and its operations;

v Tested the transtion adiustments by
consicanng management's gap analysis, the
underlyng financial information and  the
computaton of these adjustments; and

Evaluated the disclosures made in ralation to
the transition o IFAS as endorsed in the
Kirgdorm of Sawdi Armbiz by conssdering tha
relevant requirements of IFRS 1,

Othar informaison

Managamant is responsible for the other information, The other information comprises the information
included in the annua report but does not include the consciidat=d financial statements and our auditons’
report. thereon, The annual report s expectad 1o ba rmade availabla 1o us after the dete of this sudtons’
rapart.

Qur opsnion on the consofidated financial statements does not cover the other infomation and we will
ot express any form of asswance conclusion tharaon.

In connecton with our awdit of the consolidated financig! stataments, our responsibiiny is o read the
cther iformation dertified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether
the other informaton is materally inconsistant with tha consolidated financial staterments or owr
knowledge obtained in  the sudi, o othensize appesrs 10 ba matenally misstated,

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there 13 a material misstatement tharein, we are
required to communicate the matter to the Audit Carmmittes.



Rasponsibites of Managament and the Audii Commities for tha Consolidatad Frinanceal Statemoants

Management i3 responsible for the preparetion and fair presentaton of the consolidated financial
statements  In accordance with international Financial Reporting Standards thet are endorsad v the
Kingdorm of Saudi Arabia and other standaeds and pronouncemants issued by SOCPA. Compary's
By-lews and the provisions of Regulations for Companies end for such internal contral a5 managament
determings i necessany to enable the preparabon of consalidated tinancial statermants that are free from
rnaterial misstatemnent, whather due to fraud ar arror,

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is respansible for assassing the Group's
ability to continue as & going concern, disclesing, as applcable, maters related o golng concem and using
the going concem basis of accountng unless rmanagerment either imonds o Bqukdate the Group or 1o
ceass operations, or has no realistic afternatve but 1o do 50,

Audit Cornmitiea are rasponsible for oversesing the Group’s inancal reporting process,

Aucstors’ Hesponsibilities 1o the Audil of tho Consolidated Fnancial Statemants

Cur objectivas are to obtain reasenable assurance about whathes the corsolidated financial stataments as a
wihole are free from matadal misstaternent, whether due o fraud or emor, and to ssue an asditors” repot
that includes cur opinion, 'Reasonable assurance’ i5 8 high level of assurance, but is not a guarentee that an
eudit conductad in eccordance with International Standards on Auditing that are endorsed in the Kingdom of
Saudi Arabaa, will shways detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misststerments can arise from fraud
or error and are congidered material if, ingividuaily or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 1o
influance the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated finencial stataments.

Az part of an audit in sccordance with Intemational Standards on Auditfng that aoe endorasd in the Kingdom
ot Seudi Arshia, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the
audit. We alsa:

s |dentify and azsess the nsks of material misstatermant of the consolidated financial steterments, whether
due 1o fraud or error, design and perform audft procadures responsive to those risks, and  obtain audi
avidenca that is sufficient and appropaiate to provioe a basis for our opinion. The sk of oot detectng a
matarial misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for cne resufting frem eoor, &s fraud may
involve collusion, forgary, intentional omissions, misrepresantations or the owverride of internal condrol.

s Obtain an understending of intermal control relevant to the awdit in order to design audit procedures  that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group's imerna control,

« Evaluate the approprigtensss of soccounting policses used and the reascnableness of accounting
estimates and refated disciosures made by managanmant.

s Conclude on the approprateness of managament’'s s of the going concenn basis of accountng amd,
based on the sudit evidence obteined, whether 8 materal unceriginty exsts related o events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Groun's ablity 1o continus as a going concedm. If we
conclude that a matarial uncertsinty axists, then we are required to draw attertion inour acdibors’ report
1o the refsted disciosuras in the consolicated finencial staternents or, if such disclosures are inadecuate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on tha sudit evidence  obiained uo to the date of our
auditors” report. However, future events or conditions mey cause 1he Group 1o ceasse to continue as 2
QOingG Concarm.

« Evaluate the overall presentaton, structure and content of the consolidated financis  statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated finsncial statermants rapresant the undarying
rensactions and events in a manner that achievas fair presantation,

& Dbtain sufficient approprate sudit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group 1o express an openlon on the consoldated financial staterments,  We are
responsble for the direction, superision and performance of the group awdit We reman  solely
rasponsible for cur audst opinion,



We communicate with the Audit Committes regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and tming
of the audit and significant audit findings, Including any significant deficiencies in internal contrel that we
identify during our sudit of Etthad Etisalat Company (*the Company”} and itz subsidiaries {“the Group™),

Wea also pravide the Awdit Committes with a staterment that we heve complied with relevant ethical
reguiraments regarding independence, and communicate with therm all relationships and other matters that
rriay reasonably be thought to baar on our independence and where appliicable, ralated safeguards,

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committes, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the corsolidated financal staterments of the curent vear and are therefora the kay
audit mamers. We describe these matiers in our auditors” report unless law of regulation precludes pubdic
digciosure about the metter or when, in extremely rare circumsiances, we determing that 2 mater should not
be communicated inour repart becausa the advarse consaquences of doing sowould reasonably be expected
iz outweigh the publec interest benefits of such communication.

Licansa Mn. 3T

Riyadh on 13 Februany 2018
Comesponding to: 2T Jurnada’l 1438H



Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

COMSDLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINAMNCIAL POSITION
(AN amounts in Saudi Rivalks thousands unless otherwise stated)

Asal

Assels

Mon-current assets

Property und equipmeni
Intangihle assets

Capital advamnces

Available for sale Investmens
Totnl non-current assets
Curremt asseis

[rventories

Accpums reoeivahle

D From o related pacty
Prepobd expenses o olher msels
Held to matusity invesimems
Cash and cash equivalents
Tuwtal current asseis

Total assets

Equity and lizbilities

Equity

Share capiinl

Snbsory Teserve

Retwined eamings

Farsgn currency translation ressrve
Total sharcholders' equity
Mun-conirolling interest

Tatal Equmity

Mon-carrent labilitics

Loans and motes payable

Provision for employess” end of service berefils
Deferred revenue

Deferred government grams ineoms
Provision fior decommissioning linhility
Total non-currvent labilities
Current labilities

Lonns and notes payable

Acoounts payable

D i relaved parties

Acerted expenses arml odher liabilities
Provwigions

Laknl provision

[Meferred povernment granis inceme
Total enrrent linlsilities

Toial Habilities

Total equity and lisbilities

Lk
I

|
14
15

2%

I
)

1]
(L]

I
20
I2
2]

21
1%

31 December 31 December | January
T 2016 2016
{ Audfjusted - {Adjusted -
MmeT} MateT)
23,428,341 24 495,374 34,550,075
8,690,547 EORT.60 0,493,611
BT 175 £05,212 BEZ 048
7,271 7271 7,271
32,993,334 14,385 350 35,042,005
144),582 Hy 72 485 850
3,630,803 3,701.340 3,424,050
52419 Bk 56 36,508
1,458,843 | G085 664,542
1, 00000, 04 350,000 1,250,000
1,192,181 &6, 109 497 570
7474418 885,043 7,358,560
1,268, 162 41,271,493 42 406,574
7, T, 004D 7. L0 7,700,000
2,648,971 2,648,971 2648071
3.911,783 4615120 4831447
(6917 [ERNIN L
14,283 8437 14,554,980 18,172,250
- 1,500 1,500
14,253,837 | 4,956,480 15,175,750
13,469,034 7800551 8,508,553
370,411 342,742 106 M8
i, 875 B9, 16T 3
160,533 150,064 (21,987
121,518 209,374 |96, 448
14,297,672 8422198 0133036
1A 10,638 7,607 0402 5,766,263
4, RB0R, M2 4,521,432 6,535 866
42 590 | 38,420 210970
4,340,294 4,353 204 4,361,418
1,197,020 105K, 108 1,122,971
48,878 54,518 77711
E— ) 19,231 L P

11,916,653 17892 B15 18,093,748
26,214,328 26315003 2720824
A 468,162 41,371,493 42,400,574

The anached noles I[rum 1 10 33 are an integral part of these consolidated Anancial siatements.
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EhieT Txeostive Officer

—=""" Authorized Board Megiber



Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT QR LOSS
(Al amounts in Saudi Rivals ihousands unless otherwise stuted)

Revenue
Cost of sles
Giroas profil

Selling arul marketing expenses
Gieneral ol admimisisative expenses
Deprecintion and amortization
[ther income

Crperating profit

Finance expenses
Finamece income

Lass before xalat
Lakai

Lass for the year

Lass attributahle fo:
Chamers of the Company

Mon-comrolling imerest
Loss for the year

Loss per share:

Hosig nod diluted loss per share {in SR)

M December 31 December
2017 2016
Poes [Aafjursted -
Pz T)

26 11,351 301 12 569397
27 {4, 820,994 (5,144, 12%
4,530,307 1425285
8 (1,234,1003) (1,270,168}
0 (1,683, 768) (2,137,819
4o (3,626,455) (3,781,529
EER L 50,207
19,271 286,676
kL (678,443) [566,384)
14 114641 22,141
647,531) (296,967}
n (61,410} 43331
{T08,941) (213,636}
(T0R,941) (213.6836)
(T0E,541) [Ell.ﬁﬁﬁl
il ({L.28]

The ntteched nul.:a'frmn I b 33 are an intepral part of these consolidated inancial siatements.
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Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

COMSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE TMNCOME
(Al amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unbess otherwise stated)

M December 31 December
2017 2016

Lass for the year {0894 1) {213.636)
Ftemes thed will be reclossifed subsequently fo profit or foss:
Exchanga diflizrences on ranslation of foreign operations 2,194 {541
Mgt total ibems that will be reclassified subseguently to profic or
boss 2,194 {943)
Frems et will mot be reclassified sihregauemtly to profit or loss:!
Actuarial gain / (hes} on re-measurement of employees” end of
zervice benefits 5 604 (2.8591]
Met total items that will mot be reclassified subsequently fa
profit or knss 5,604 20910
Total ather comprehensive incomedy lass) for the vear 7,708 {3,634)
‘Total comprehensive loss for the year (T01,143) {217,290
Total comprehensive loss for the year atiriboiable bo:
Ohwners of the Comipany (700,143} (217,270
Moreeontrolling inferost - -
Total eomprohensive loss for the year (700, 143) (27,2700

=

The attached notes from 1 1o 33 are an iitegral part of these consolidated finwnciol stalements, g &

A L" _:J—-—_' _ﬁ:_:;"f'_
a —— i e
Oifficer Chiel Executive Officer _Aitiileed B




Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

COMSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the vear ended 31 December 2007

(Al amounds in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

Az at | January 2016

Lo for the year

Other comprehensive loss for the vear
Total consprehensive loss for the vear
As at 31 December 006

As at 1| Janmary 2017

Loss for the vear
Onher comprehensive income for the year
Total comprebensive (foss) [ income for the vear

Mon-controfling imeres
As at 31 December 2017

The attached notes from 1 10 33 are an invegral pay

i Retained Foreign Total Wi

are Statutory eRrnings CUITEnCY shareholders’ " i Tutal

capital reserve {Adjusted -  translation CUENARE equity

. Mote T) reserve equiny Il-t:l'ﬂf_

T, T, 000 1548971 4,831 447 (%, 168} 15,172,250 [, 500 15,173,750

- . (213,634) - {213,634) {213,636)
{2,601 ) (943) (3,634) {3453

- . __(216,327) {543) (217,20 17

000, O} —2,648,97] 4,613,120 {2,111} 14,954, 08} 1,500 14,556,480

7,700,000 264897 4.415. 120 {9,111) 14,954,080 1500 14,956 480
= (TORBA1) - (T08.5413 (TO8941)
- 5604 2194 7708 - 7.798
. - [TIE337) 214 (701,143} - (708,143}
. & = * . (1,300 {1,500)

T T EHH) 2,648,971 3.911,783 {6,017) 14,255,837 = 14,253 837

ofthese conselidated financial statements.

e

e
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Chief Executive Officer
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Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)
COMNSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(Al amounts i Saudi Rivals thousands unless otherwise stated )

31 December 31 December
17 201G
Modes [ Adjusted )
OPFERATING ACTIVITIES
Casl flows from operating activities
Lioss for the year {08,594 1) {21,600
Addjustments for:
Change in provision for inventory obsolescence {7, 267) 22 004
Depraciagion B 3209145 3,245 260
Amoriization of imtangible wsels 9 327200 136,560
Provision for coployees” end of service benefits 17 60,543 58,042
Provision for doubilil debis ] pEER. L 351,652
Provisions 38912 35137
Covernimand grants (15,231 (TR, 59
Zakni provision i} 6l 410 {43,331}
Lo pain) on sale of property and equipmen 5,143 (54}
Finanee expenses My 67H,443 5o, 154
Finunoee income (ET a1} (32,141}
Changes in;
Accounts receivable (163,359) (R2R.042)
Inwemtories iy, ST 263, TH3
Prepaid expanses and other asseis L3110 (194.623)
Arccounts payabie 456,365 563,101
Acerued expenses and other labilitics {58, 7) 121,211
Utilizsion of the decommissioning provision (791 g
Diise from & related pary 17,149 {33.0h600)
D to related pastics (45.830) {72550
Cush generated from operating activites 4,332, TG 4,515,656
Emwployees” end of serviee benefits poid 17 {18,669 (M4,
Finance expenscs paid (B52.573) (515,930
Zakai paid 22 67 M150) (77,125
Met ensh gemerated from operating activities 3504414 1,918,562
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Held to muaurity investmends (h50,000) CH0, (M
Fimunce income received 13,062 22,481
Purchase of property and equiproent (1,183,727} (5.5, 149
Proceeds from sabes of property and equipment & Th
Acquisition af imangible msels i 156,967) (30651
Crvernmenl grants recelved s TT.A08
Met cash nsed in investing activities ___[2,977.616) (4,605, 135)
FINAMCING ACTIVITIES
Priscieds from boana and notes payable 9270, 5046 4. 137.216
Payment of lonns und notes pavalle (9,550,722} (382, 104y
Hon-controlling interest 11,5041 -
Met cash (used in) / generated from financing activities (2o, TIG) 1,055,112
Met changes in cash and cash squivalents 326,072 368,534
Cash and cash equivalenis st the beginning of the vear - B, 104 457,570
Cush pnd cash equivalents af the end of the year 15 1,192,181 R, 109
Supplementnry nen-cash informathon
. Py f

mwﬂ equipmer purchased credited to capitnl expenditire (209,027) (2.577.535)

:IH Froma 1wl 33 are an integral pant of thess consalidated financial sistements. —
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Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the yeaended31 December 2017
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION
11 Etihad Etisalat Company

Etihad Etisalat Company (“Mobily” or the “Company’), a Saudi Joint Stock Company, is registered in the Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia under commercial registration number 1010203896 issuedyamlhRon 14 December 2004
(corresponding to Dhul Qa’adah 2, 1425H). The main address for the Company is P.O. Box 23088, Riyadh 11321
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

The Company was incorporated pursuant to the Royal decree humbedatié¢018 August 2004 (corresponding to
Rajab 2, 1425H) approving the Council of Ministers resolution B9 dated 10 August 2004 (corresponding to
Jumada Il 23, 1425H) to approve the award of the license to incorp@atelaJoint Stock Company under the name
of “Etihad Etisalat Company”.

Pursuant to the Council of Ministers resolution number 190 dated 10sA2§04 (corresponding to Jumada Il 23,
1425H), the Company obtained the licenses to install and operate 2G and B&tetebhone network including all
related elements and the provision of all related services locally and intertgtibraugh its own network.

Pursuant to the Communication and Information Technology Conumi§SITC) resolution number 5125 dated 21
February 2017 (corresponding to Jumada | 24, 1438H), the Corop&aigied a Unified License to provide all licensed
telecommunication services including fixed line voice services and fixed internet.

The Company’s main activity is to establish and operate mobile wireless telecommunications network, fiber optics
networks and any extension thereof, manage, install and operate telaphsoks, terminals and communication unit
systems, in addition to sell and maintain mobile phones and communicatigystems in the Kingdom of Saudi
Arabia. The Group commenced its commercial operations on 25 May 2008sfmnding to Rabi Al-Thani 17,
1426H).

The authorized, issued and paid up share capital of the Company is@BRvifljibn divided into 770 million shares
of SR 10 each.

12 Subsidiary Companies
Below is the summary of Company’s subsidiaries and ownership percentage as at 31 DecembeR017and 31 December

2016:
Ownership percentage

Country of . . Initial
Name incorporatior Direct Indirect investment
Mobily Ventures Holding SPC Bahrain 100.00% - 2,510
Mobily InfoTech India Private Limited India 99.99% 0.01% 1,836
Bayanat Al-Oula for Network Services Company Saudi Arabia 99.00% 1.00% 1,500,000
Zajil International Network for Telecommunication Company Saudi Arabia 96.00% 4.00% 80,000
National Company for Business Solutions Saudi Arabia 95.00% 5.00% 9,500
Sehati for Information Service Company Saudi Arabia 90.00%  10.00% 900
Mobily Plug & Play LLC (Liquidated Saudi Arabia 60.00% - 2,250
National Company for Business Solutions FZE United Arab - 100.00% 184
Emirates
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Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the yeaended31 December 2017
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
1.2  Subsidiary companies (continued)
The main activities of the subsidiaries are as follows:

e Development of technology software programs for the Group usetoaptbvide information technology
support.

e Execution of contracts for the installation and maintenance of wire mekkss telecommunications networks
and the installation of computer systems and data services.

e Wholesale and retail trade in equipment and machinery, electronic and electricat deiieeand wireless
telecommunications’ equipment, smart building systems and import and export to third parties, in addition to
marketing and distributing telecommunication services and providing t¢atsol services in the
telecommunication domain.

e Wholesale and retail trade in computers and electronic equipment, maintenanceeeattbropf such
equipment, and provision of related services.

e Providing television channels service over internet protocol (IPTV).

e Establishment, management and operation of, and investment in servindustdal projects.

o Establishment, operating and maintenance of telecommunications netwarksjtepand its related works,
and establishment, maintenance and operating of computer software, i@orirexporting and sale of
equipment, devices and programs of telecommunication systems and cosoftutare.

e Establish and own companies specializing in commercial activities.

e Manage its affiliated companies or to participate in the management of othemdesripavhich it owns shares,
and to provide the necessary support for such companies.

e Invest funds in shares, bonds and other securities.

e Own real estate and other assets necessary for undertaking its activitiegheitlimits pertained by law.

e Own or to lease intellectual property rights such as patents and trademarks,icoaaass other intangible
rights to exploit and lease or sub-lease them to its affiliates or to others.

¢ Have interest or participate in any manner in institutions which carrimilaisactivities or which may assist
the Company in realizing its own objectives in the Kingdom of Bahraabirad. The Company may acquire
such entities or merge therewith.

e Perform all acts and services relating to the realization of the foregoing objects

The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the finaricrahétion of the following subsidiaries
(collectively hereafter referred as “Group”):

121 Mobily VenturesHolding SPC
During 2014, the Company completed the legal formalities pertaining iowbstment in a new subsidiary, Mobily
Ventures Holding, Single Person Company (SPC), located in the KingdBahcdin owned 100% by the Company.

Mobily Ventures Holding SPC owns participation in the following companies;
- Anghami LLC (Cayman Islands) : 8.16% (20161®%)
- MENA 360 DWC LLC (United Arab Emirates) : 2.48% (2016 : 3.63%)

122 Mobily InfoTech India Private Limited

During the year 2007, the Company invested in 99.99% of the sharal cd a subsidiary company, Mobily InfoTech
India Private Limited incorporated in Bangalore, India which commenced ritsneccial activities during the year
2008. Early 2009, the remaining 0.01% of the subsidiary’s share capital was acquired by National Company for
Business Solutions, a subsidiary of the Company. The financiakyelaof the subsidiary is March 31 however, the
Company uses the financial statements of the subsidiary for the sameéngeperiod in preparing the Group
consolidated financial statements.

1.2.3 Bayanat Al-Oulafor Network Services Company

During the year 2008, the Company acquired 99% of the partnarsssh Bayanat, a Saudi limited liability company.
The acquisition included Bayanat’s rights, assets, obligations, commercial name as well as its current and future
trademarks for a total price of Saudi Riyals 1.5 billion, resultingaadwill of Saudi Riyals 1.466 billion on the
acquisition date. The remaining 1% is owned by National Company fon&assiSolutions, a subsidiary of the
Company.
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Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the yeaended31 December 2017
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
12 Subsidiary companies (continued)

1.2.4  Zajil International Network for Telecommunication Company

During the year 2008, the Company acquired 96% of the partners’ shares in Zajil International Network for
Telecommunication Company (“Zajil”), a Saudi limited liability company. The acquisition included Zajil’s rights,
assets, obligations, commercial name as well as its current and future tradiemartatal price of Saudi Riyals 80
million, resulting in goodwill of Saudi Riyals 63 million on the aisifion date. The remaining 4% is owned by
National Company for Business Solutions, a subsidiary of the @oynfihe goodwill has been fully impaired during
the year ended 31 December 2014.

1.25 National Company for Business Solutions
During the year 2008, the Company invested in 95% of the share capitatiafial Company for Business Solutions,
a Saudi limited liability company. The remaining 5% is owned by Bayanahsidsary of the Company.

National Company for Business Solutiowns participation in Ecommerce Taxi Middle East (Luxembourg) : 10%
(2016 : 10%).

1.2.6  Sehati for Information Service Company
During 2014, the Company completed the legal formalities pertaining to Westinent of 90% in Sehati for
Information Service Company. The remaining 10% is owned by Bayasalbsadiary of the Company.

1.2.7 Mobily Plug & Play LLC (Liquidated)

During 2014, the Company completed the legal formalities pertaining to thénmergsof 60% in Mobily Plug & Play
LLC. The remaining 40% is owned by Plug & Play International, a @2my incorporated in USA. The Company
completed the legal formalities for liquidation on 31 December 2017.

1.2.8 National Company for Business Solutions FZE

During 2014, the National Company for Business Solutions (KSA) compietekgal formalities pertaining to the
investment of 100% in National Company for Business Solutions FZBirg&hy incorporated in the United Arab of
Emirates.

2 BASISOF ACCOUNTING
21 Statement of Compliance

These consolidated financial statements comprise the financial information of thiga®@o and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the ‘Group’).

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance Intefiraiacial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) that is endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other starafadronouncements issued by Saudi
Organization for Certified Public Accountants. Up to and including the geded 31 December 2016, the Group
prepared its annual consolidated financial statements in accordance with @ekemafited Accounting Standards as
issued by Saudi Organization for Certified Public Accountants (SOCPA&}seTtonsolidated financial statements are
the first IFRS anual financial statements, therefore IFRS 1 ‘First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standards’ that is endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standafgs@muncements issued by Saudi
Organization for Certified Public Accountants has been applied by the @rquppare these consolidated financial
statements. The reader must also take into account the explanations of hamghierrto IFRS has affected the
reported financial position, financial performance and cash flows @tbep as provided in Note 7

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidsedidi statements have been
consistently applied to all periods presented.

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issuance byattiedB®irectors ori3 February 2018
(corresponding t@7 Jumada’l 1439H).
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Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the yeaended31 December 2017
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

2 BASISOF ACCOUNTING (CONTINUED)

2.2 Basis of measur ement

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on historical costdmssistated otherwise using the
going concern basis of assumption.

23 Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Saudi Riyal (“SR”) which is the functional currency of the
Company. All amounts have been rounded off to the nearest thgusaleds otherwise stated.

3 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rightsjableareturns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its powertheeinvestee. Specifically, the Group controls an
investee if, and only if, the Group has:

- Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current abittiyettt the relevant activities of the
investee);

- Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvemetti@éninvestee;

- The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights reauttsntrol. To support this presumption and
when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar wlats investee, the Group considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power oveesteéncluding the contractual arrangement(s)
with the other vote holders of the investee, rights arising froer aitntractual arrangements and theu’s voting
rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee ifffdats@mstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation dfstdsary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the syb&gkats, liabilities, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are inclundbd consolidated financial statements from the
date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive incOGI® &re attributed to the equity holders of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this result®indh-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statementddiisebgo bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, unrealized income and expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interest are measured at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date of
acquisition.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a lagsntfol, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
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Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the yeaended31 December 2017
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

3 BASISOF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:
- De-recognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;
- De-recognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;
- Derecognizes the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity;
- Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received;
- Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained;
- Recognizes any surplus or deficit in consolidated statement of profit or loss;

- Reclassifies the Group’s share of components previously recognized in consolidated statement of other
comprehensive income to consolidated statement of profit or loss or rezaimérths, as appropriate, as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

4 NEW STANDARDS AND AMENDMENTSISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

Standards and amendments issued but not yet applicable to the Group’s consolidated financial statements are listed
below. This listing of standards and amendments issued are thogeetabup reasonably expects to have an impact
on disclosures, financial position or performance when applied at a fd&iee Following are standards and
amendments issued but not yet effective:

IFRS9 - Financial Instruments

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Finanosttuments that replaces IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and all previous versidiR®8I. IFRS 9 brings together all three aspects
of the accounting for financial instruments project: classification andurezaent, impairment and hedge accounting.
IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1ladar018, with early application permitted. Except
for hedge accounting, retrospective application is required but providingacatiwe information is not compulsory.
For hedge accounting, the requirements are generally applied prospeegtitteksome limited exceptions. The Group
is in the process of completing its evaluation of impact of expected credlitniodel on impairment of its financial
assets.

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers

IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a five-step model totdocaavenue arising from contracts with
customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognized at an amount that reflectsitheration to which an entity expects
to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer

The new revenue standard will supersede all current revenue recogagigrements under IFRS. Either a full
retrospective application or a modified retrospective application is required foalgyeriods beginning on or after
1 January 2018. The Group is in the process of completing its g@ealofimpact of IFRS 15 on its revenue recognition

policy.
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Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the yeaended31 December 2017
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

4 NEW STANDARDS AND AMENDMENTSISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (CONTINUED)
IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance lease sheet accounting model for edsssse recognizes a right of use
asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability represeniiigaiiisnoto make lease
payments. There are optional exemptions for short-term leases and leases ofdatgwveluLessor accounting remains
similar to the current standard.e. lessors continue to classify leases as finance or operating leases.

IFRS 16 replaces existing leases guidance including IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Detpntinther an Arrangement
contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leaskeentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving
the Legal Form of a Lease.
The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after ary&019. Early adoption is permitted for entities
that apply IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers at or beforae¢hef chitial application of IFRS 16. The
Group has started an initial assessment of the potential impact of IFRS 16 on ilislatatséinancial statements.
Other amendments
The following new or amendedandards are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.

a) Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions (AnenanFRS 2).

b) Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate yYdoiare (Amendments to IFRS

10 and IAS 28).

5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
5.1 Current versusnon-current classification
The Group presents assets and liabilities in the consolidated statememaéfipasition based on current/non-current
classification. An asset is current when it is:

- Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the nperatirgg cycle;

- Held primarily for the purpose of trading;

- Expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period; or

- Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged ¢o ge¢ite a liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:
- Itis expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle;
- ltis held primarily for the purpose of trading;

- ltis due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or

- There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at \@aktet months after the
reporting period.

The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current.
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Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the yeaended31 December 2017
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
5.2 Business combination and Goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition méthdost of an acquisition is measured as the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at thdtiaoodige fair value and the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combirthBd@roup elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interest in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in admirissqenses.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and &abilities! for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstathgestinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives inftesttsdoy the acquiree.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred is recognized at fair valbe aicquisition date. All contingent

consideration (except that which is classified as equity) is remeasured at fairavaach reporting date with the
changes in fair value recognized in consolidated statement of profit oClmsgngent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accountediticzopity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggreghteaufnsideration transferred and the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests) and any previous interestdweldthe net identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net asseajsiieed is in excess of the aggregate consideration tregdfére
Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified akkaftsets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed anaveevie
the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognized at the acdatsitit the reassessment still results in
an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggregate constdamafemned, then the gain is recognized
in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumuiatgairment losses. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is fieradquisition date allocated to each of the
Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespdatiiether other assets
or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU) andtharbpération within that unit is disposed
off, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is includeaeirarrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwills#idgo these circumstances is measured based
on the relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of thgerashting unit retained.

5.3 Investment in an associate and ajoint venture

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influencefi&igt influence is the power to participate
in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not canjmaitacontrol over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties thatdiav control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contracagated sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require thenme consent of the parties sharing
control.

The considerations made in determining whether significant influencénbcgmtrol are similar to those necessary to
determine control over subsidiaries.
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Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the yeaended31 December 2017
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
53 Investment in an associate and ajoint venture (continued)

The Group’s investments in its associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. Under the
equity method, the investment in an associate or joint venture is inidathgnized at cost. The carrying amount of the
investment is adjusted to recognize changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate or joint venture since the
acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associate or joint venture is includezléarttying amount of the investment
and is not tested for impairment separately.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss reflectaGiwip’s share of the results of operations of the associate or

joint venture. Any change in consolidated statement of other comprehé@msome of those investees is presented as
part of the Group’s consolidated statement of other comprehensive income. In addition, when there has been a change
recognized directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture, thgp@eoognizes its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealized gains andréssgisg from transactions between the
Group and the associate and joint venture are eliminated to the extent of &t intéte associate or joint venture.

The aggregate of the Group’s share of consolidated statement of profit or loss of an associate and a joint venture is
shown separately on the face of the consolidated statement of profis.or los

The consolidated financial statements of the associate or joint venture anegriep the same reporting period as the
Group. When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the acgqaiities in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whetherdtéssary to recognize an impairment loss
on its investment in its associate or joint venture. At each reporting date,dbp @termines whether there is any
objective evidence that the investment in the associate or joint ventomgaised. If there is such evidence, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the eddev@nount of the associate or joint venture
and its carrying value and recognizes the loss as part of ‘Share of profit of an associate and a joint venture’ in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint coote the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognizes any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference retiveearrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint conamd the fair value of the retaining investment and
proceeds from disposal is recognized in the consolidated statementiodplass.

54  Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transféityaitiaén orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measisrbasad on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

- Inthe principal market for the asset or liability; or

- In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous maurtket &sset or liability.

The principal or most advantageous market must be accessible by the Gme fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use veiranthe asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a paaticgbant's ability to generate economic
benefits from the asset’s highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would utilize the asset

in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstahfcesvich sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable amuitainimizing the use of unobservable inputs.
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Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the yeaended31 December 2017
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
5.4  Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosdideirtonsolidated financial statements are
categorized within the fair value hierarchy. This is described as follows batfesllowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole:
- Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identica astiabilities;
- Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input thagigfgiant to the fair value measurement
is directly or indirectly observable; and
- Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input thagigfgiant to the fair value measurement
is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the consolidated financial statermrentgafiid on a recurring basis,
the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between lev@sirrarchy by re-assessing categorization
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair valueurezasnt as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period. The Group determines the policies and procedures for bothingdair value measurement, and for non-
recurring measurement.

At each reporting date, the Group analyses the movements in the Viahgsets and liabilities which are required to
be remeasured or msessed as per the Group’s accounting policies. For this analysis, the Group verifies the major
inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valwatioputation to contracts and other
relevant documents. The Group also compares the change in the fair valgl abset and liability with relevant
external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable. Foptse mirfair value disclosures, the Group
has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the hataetecistics and risks of the asset or liability
and the level of the fair value hierarchy, as explained above.

5,5 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments thataddy convertible to known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. &atlcash equivalents consist of cash on hand, bank
current accounts and Murabaha facilities with original maturities of thoeghnor less from acquisition date.

5.6 Financial instruments— initial recognition and subsequent measur ement der ecognition

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asseeantity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity.

5.6.1 Financial assets

(@ Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified at initial recognition, as financial assets at fair value thrafitgdr loss, loans and
receivables, helds-maturity financial assets, available for sale financial assets, or designated as hedigingents

in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial assets other than financial assets at fair value throudjh garéoss, are initially measured at fair value
plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Transaction costedoictal assets at fair value through profit or loss

are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss as incurred.

The group has the following financial assedsailable for sale investments, cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, due from a related party, held to maturity investments.
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Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the yeaended31 December 2017
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5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
5.6 Financial instruments— initial recognition and subsequent measur ement der ecognition (continued)

5.6.1 Financial assets (continued)

(b)  Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classifisat@scribed below:
(i)  Loansand receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or ihetelenpayments that are not quoted in an
active market. After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequestlyethed amortized cost using the
effective interest rate (EIR) method, less accumulated impairment.losses

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or e acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the EIR. The effective interest rate amortization isdiedlin finance income in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. The losses arising from impairment asgrrized in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss in finance costs for loans and in other operating expenseséivables.

(i)  Available for sale investments

Available for sale investments include equity and debt securities. Equégtimgnts classified as an Available For
Sale (AFS) are those neither classified as held for trading nor designated at faihk@lige profit or loss. Debt
securities in this category are those which are intended to be held iftdedinite period of time and which may be
sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes imtketrmonditions.

After initial measurement, available for sale investments are subsequeasymad at fair value with unrealised gains
or losses recognised in consolidated statement of other comprehensive imtoen&FS reserve until the investment
is derecognised, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss is reedgnisther operating income, or the investment
is determined to be impaired, at which time, the cumulative loss is reclassitieel consolidated statement of profit
or loss in finance costs and removed from the AFS reserveeshiecome on available for sale debt securities is
calculated using the effective interest method and is recognised in consadidaéadent of profit or loss. The Group
evaluates its available for sale financial assets to determine whether the ability atiohittesell them in the near
term is still appropriate.

When the Group is unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets and management’s intention to do so
significantly changes in the foreseeable future, the Group may elect léssiBc these financial assets in rare
circumstances. For a financial asset reclassified out of the AFS category, ttuicarrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any previous gass onlthat asset that has been recognised in
equity is amortised to consolidated statement of profit or loss ogerethaining life of the investment using the
Effective Interest Rate (EIR). Any difference between the new amortisédmd the maturity amount is also amortised
over the remaining life of the asset using the EIR. If the assetbisequently determined to be impaired, then the
amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the consolidated statementipbiplads.

(iii) Held to maturity financial assets

Investments with fixed or determinable payments and fixed matletys that the Group has the positive intent and
ability to hold to maturity are classified as held to maturity investments-tdetdhturity investments are recorded at

amortised cost using the effective interest method less any accumulated iemp&irsees, with income recognised on

an effective yield basis. The Group considers the credit risk of counterpaitgeassessment of whether such financial
instruments are impaired.

Held to maturity investments include placements with banks and siioet-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or more but not more than ondrgeathe purchase date.

The Group does not have any financial assets held for trading and finandisldessgnated upon initial recognition
at fair value through profit or loss.
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5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

5.6 Financial instruments— initial recognition and subsequent measur ement der ecognition (continued)
5.6.1 Financial assets (continued)

(c) Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or pagtadp of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised when:

e The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

e The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from teecadtas assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through arrangement; and either:
(i) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewattis a$set, or

(i) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the rizk®wards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

(d)  Impairment of financial assets

For financial assets not classified at fair value through profit ortlssGroup assesses at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that such financial asset or a graoprafiél assets is impaired. A financial asset or a
group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and onheik is objective evidence of impairment as a result
of one or more events that has or have occurred after the initial idmogr the asset and a loss event has an impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the Grfinprwial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that debtors or a Grbuaebtors are experiencing significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in principal payments, pinobability that they will enter into bankruptcy or
other financial reorganization and where observable data indicates that there isralieedsarease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic cosdhtaircorrelate with defaults.

(i)  Financial assets carried at amortized cost

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the Group first assessesrvime#irment exists individually for
financial assets that are individually significant. If the Group determines toljective evidence of impairment exists
for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or naiuidl@s the asset in a group of financial asset
with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for imptirAssets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss prdimues to be, recognized are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expestitdosses that have not yet been incurred).
The present valuefthe estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the ws® afowance account and the loss is recognized in
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Interest income (recorded as finaoo® in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss) continues to be accrued on the reduced carryingrdiraond is accrued using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuringnibeiiment loss.
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5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

5.6 Financial instruments— initial recognition and subsequent measur ement der ecognition (continued)
5.6.1 Financial assets (continued)

(d)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

() Financial assets carried at amortized cost (continued)

Loans together with the associated allowance are written off when thereeialistic prospect of future recovery and
all collateral has been realized or has been transferred to the Group. Ih&equsent year, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occuerirtheaimpairment was recognized, the
previously recognized impairment loss is increased or reduced tstingjthe allowance account. If a write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to general and administrative in the catesbfithtement of profit or loss.

(i)  Financial assets classified as available for sale

For AFS investments, the Group assesses at each reporting date whetheotleotive evidence that an investment
or a group of investments is impaired. In the case of equigstments classified as AFS, objective evidence would
include a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of thestment below its cost. The determination of what
is ‘significant’ or ‘prolonged’ requires judgment. In making this judgment, the Group evaluates, among other factors,
historical share price movements and the duration or extent to whidirtkielfie of an investment is less than its cost.

5.6.2 Financial liabilities
Recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at faievhiwugh profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, as appropriate. All financial liabilities other thancfad liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognized initially at fair value net of directly attributable transambists. Financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss are measured initially and subsdygwrair value, and any related transaction costs
are are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss as in€her€doup’s financial liabilities include loans

and notes payable, accounts payable, due to related parties

5.7 Property and equipment

Property and equipment are only measured at cost, less accumulated deprapétémy accumulated impairment
losses. Cost comprises the cost of equipment and materials, inclggig find insurance, charges from contractors
for installation and building works, direct labour costs, capitalized bamgweosts and an estimate of the costs of
dismantling and removing the equipment and restoring the site oh Widdocated. If significant parts of an item of
property and equipment have different useful lives, then they amu@ied for as separate items of property and
equipment.

Depreciation on property and equipment is charged to the consolidatedestistef profit or loss using the straight
line method over their estimated useful lives at the following annual depreciation rates.

Depreciation Rate

Buildings 5%
Leasehold improvements 10%
Telecommunication network equipmel 4% -20%
Computer equipment and software 16% -33%
Office equipment and furniture 14% -33%
Vehicles 20% -25%
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5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
5.7 Property and equipment (continued)

Depreciation methods, rates and residual values are reviewed annually and rethisezliifent method, estimated
useful life or residual value is different from that estimated previoublg.effect of such changes is recognized in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss prospectively.

Major renovations and improvements are capitalized if they increaseotthgcfivity or the operating useful life of the
assets as well as direct labor and other direct costs. Repairs and maintenance arewkparisedrred. Gain or loss
on disposal of property and equipment which represents the differeneeebethe sale proceeds and the carrying
amount of these assets, is recognized in the consolidated statemerit of foes.

Capital work in progress is stated at cost until the construction on instaistimmplete. Upon the completion of
construction or installation, the cost of such assets together wittlixgty attributable to construction or installation,
including capitalized borrowing cost, are transferred to the respective €lassed. No depreciation is charged on
capital work in progress.

5.8 Intangible Assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at casingalitial recognition, intangible

assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any accumulatetemmnjpizsses. Internally
generated intangible assets, excluding capitalized development costs, are not capitabzeeraditire is recognized
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in whickxhenditure is incurred.

5.8.1 Licenses
Acquired telecommunication licenses are initially recorded at cost or, if pabusimess combination, at fair value.

Licenses are amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful liwesHem the related networks are
available for use.

5.8.2 Goodwill

Goodwill is the amount that results when the fair value of considertiosferred for an acquired business exceeds
the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recogMbed.the Group enters into

a business combination, the acquisition method of accounting is @sedwill is assigned, as of the date of the
business combination, to cash generating units that are expected to bemefitefrbusiness combination. Each cash
generating unit represents the lowest level at which goodwill is monitor@atdonal management purposes and it is
never larger than an operating segment.

5.8.3 Indefeasible rights of use “IRU”

IRUs correspond to the right to use a portion of the capacity ofesstiéat or submarine transmission cable granted for
a fixed period. IRUs are recognized at cost as an intangible asset when the #&rthg $pecific indefeasible right to
use an identified portion of the underlying asset, generally optical fibetedicated wavelength bandwidth, and the
duration of the right is for the major part of the underlying asset’s economic life. They are amortized on a straight line
basis over the shorter of the expected period of use and the lifecofrtinact.
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5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
5.8 Intangible Assets (Continued)
5.8.4 Computer Software

Computer software licenses purchased from third parties are initially eecatdcost. Costs directly associated with
the production of internally developed software, where it is probable thabftheue will generate future economic
benefits, are recognized as intangible assets

5.9 Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, constructionamyation of an asset that necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or saleapitalized as part of the cost of the respective
asset. Where funds are borrowed specifically to finance a project, thentageanpitalized represents the actual
borrowing costs incurred. Where surplus funds are available foora term from money borrowed specifically to
finance a project, the income generated from the temporary investmsmtloimounts is deducted from the total
capitalized borrowing cost. Where the funds used to finance a projectpfrt of general borrowings, the amount
capitalized is calculated using a applicable weighted average rates.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in whichitfeeyred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowirfignals.

Borrowing costs incurred on or after the date of transition (lalgr2016) for all eligible qualifying assets are
capitalized. The borrowing costs capitalized under SOCPA on qualifying &ssbtsdate of transition to IFRS are
included in the carrying amount of assets at that date.

5.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indicataon aba¢t may be impaired. If any
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an assefuged, th Group estimates the asset’s recoverable
amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal and its

value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for an individed) astess the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets grsgodassets. When the carrying amount of an
asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impdseditted down to its recoverable
amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discouhtdgcesent value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of motiey aski specific to the asset. In determining
fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken intat.aéaoairsuch transactions can be
identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and any impairment loss in respgeodwill is not reversed.

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calguat@imare prepared separately
for each of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations
generally cover a period of five years. A long-term growth rate is ledédcliand applied to project future cash flows
after the fifth year.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognized in the consobtateadent of profit or loss in expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reportingldtgeime whether there is an indication
that previously recognized impairment losses no longer exist er deareased. If such indication exists, the Group
estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does

not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that vemeldbeen determined, net of
depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset ipgaier Such reversal is recognized in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
5.11 Zakat and income tax

The Group is subject to zakat in accordance with the regulations @eheral Authority of Zakat and Tax (the
“GAZT”). Provision for zakat for the Group and zakat related to the Group’s ownership in the Saudi Arabian
subsidiaries is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or losigrFehareholders in the consolidated Saudi
Arabian subsidiaries are subject to income taxes. Additional amounts payadnhy, i&t the finalization of final
assessments are accounted for when such amounts are determined. Thar@rds Saudi Arabian subsidiaries
withhold taxes on certain transactions with non-resident parties in the Kirgfd®@esmdi Arabia as required under Saudi
Arabian Income Tax Law.

Foreign subsidiaries are subject to income taxes in their respective countriesoiled&uch income taxes are charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

5.12 Employee ter mination benefits

The Group operates a defined benefit plan for employees in accordam&awdti Labor and Workman Law as defined
by the conditions stated in the laws of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.cokt of providing the benefits under the
defined benefit plan is determined using the projected unit credit method.

Remeasurements for actuarial gains and losses are recognized in tliglamusstatement of financial position with
a corresponding credit to retained earnings through consolidated statenmbat cbaprehensive income in the period
in which they occur.

Remeasurements are not reclassified to consolidated statement of dosfit iorsubsequent periods.
Past service cost are recognized in consolidated statement of profit or loss ahighefea

e The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and
e The date the Group recognizes related restructuring costs

5.13 Revenues

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or recéigabtbe sale of goods and services in the
ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is stated net of trade discounts, incentives and volume rebates and
after eliminating revenue within the Group.

The Group recognizes revenue when the amount of revenue can bl méalkured; when it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the Group; and when specific critieti@ been met for each of the Group’s activities,
as described below.

The Group’s revenue comprises revenue from mobile telecommunications services as summarized below:

(&) Revenue from mobile telecommunications comprises amounts chamestdmers in respect of connection
or activation, airtime usage, text messaging, the provision of othbilemtelecommunications services
including data services, and fees for connecting users of other fixed line and mobile networks to the Group’s
network.

(b) Airtime, text messaging and data usage by customers is invoiced andeceasrgart of a periodic billing
cycle and recognized as revenue over the related access period. Unbilled regettirg rfrom services
already provided from the billing cycle date to the end of each accoymehmy is accrued and unearned
revenue from services provided in periods after each accounting [eriederred and recognized as the
customer uses the airtime.
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5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
5.13 Revenues (continued)

(c) Connection or activation fees, are non-refundable, one-off, feesechergustomers when they connect to
the network and are recognized in full as revenue in the period in thigicinderlying obligation is fulfilled.
The fees to the Group are not contingent upon resale or payment byl theeeras the Group has no further
obligations related to bringing about resale or delivery, and all other revemmgmitem criteria have been
met.

(d) Subscription fees are monthly access fees that do not vary accturdisgge and are recognized as revenue
on a straight-line basis over the service period.

(e) Interconnect revenue is recognized on the basis of the gross valumiokfraised on other operators for
termination charges based on the airtime usage, text messaging, andwiseormprof other mobile
telecommunications services for the billing period as per the agreed rate.

(H Roaming revenue is recognized on the basis of the gross valwifes raised on other roaming partners
based on actual traffic delivered during the billing period.

(g) Revenue from sale of handsets and replaced sim cards is recogrizedelipery of the products to the
customers in the period during which the sale transaction took place.

(h) In arrangements involving the delivery of bundled products and serthioss, bundled products and services
are separated into individual elements, each with its own separate revenue contréwatioated from the
perspective of the customer. Total arrangement consideration is allocateth tdetigerable based on the
relative fair value of the individual element. The Group generally determieefaithvalue of individual
elements based on an objective and reliable assessment of the prices at whichettablgelsvregularly sold
on a standalone basis.

() An exchange of good or services of similar nature is not regarded assaction that generates revenue.
However, exchange of dissimilar items is regarded as generating revenue.

5.14 Loyalty program

The Group operates a loyalty program that provides a variety of bepefitsstomers. Loyalty award credits are based
on a customer’s telecommunications usage. The Group accounts for the loyalty award credits as a separately identifiable
component of the sale transaction in which they are granted.

The consideration in respect of the initial sale is allocated to award creditsdvetesr fair value and is accounted
for as a liability in the consolidated statement of financial position until tleedsnare utilized. The fair value is
determined using estimation techniques that take into account the fair valeebehtits for which the awards could
be redeemed and is net of awards credit which are expected to expire (&redkadsroup also sells award credits to
third parties for use in promotional activities. The revenue frath sales is recognized when the awards are ultimately
utilized.
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5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
5.15 Costsand expenses
(@) Cost of services and sales

Represent the cost of services and sales incurred during the period whicle ithe costs of goods sold, inventory
obsolescence, direct labor, governmental charges, interconnection costs arayvertheads related to the revenues
recognized.

i. Governmental charges

Governmental charges represent government contribution fees in trade earnings, license fees, frequency waves’
fees and costs charged to the Group against the rights to use telegoatims and data services in the Kingdom
of Saudi Arabia as stipulated in the license agreements. These fees are rectideetlated periods during
which these fees are incurred and included under cost of services imsiodidated statement of profit or loss.

ii. Interconnection costs

Interconnection costs represent connection charges to national and internationairtelaation networks.
Interconnection costs are recorded in the period when relevant calls aremsadee included in the cost of
services caption in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(b)  Selling and marketing expenses

Represent expenses resulting from the Group's management effontsgaitth to the marketing function or the selling
and distribution function. Selling and marketing expenses include direatdinett costs not specifically part of cost
of revenues. Allocations between selling and marketing expenses amd m&enues, when required, are made on a
consistent basis.

(c)  General and administrative expenses

Represent expenses relating to the administration and not to the reveimng feiaction or the selling and distribution
functions. General and administrative expenses include direct and indirectatagiscifically part of cost of revenues.
Allocations between general and administrative expenses and cost of revermreequired, are made on a consistent
basis.

5.16 Dividends

Dividends are recorded in the consolidated financial statements in the periodcimthdy are approved by the
shareholders of the Company.

5.17 Foreign currency transactions

(@  Reporting currency and functional currency

The Group’s consolidatedinancial statements are presented in Saudi Riyals, which is also the Company’s functional
currency. For each entity, the Group determines the functional currenégm@sdncluded in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional currency. The Gsesphe direct method of consolidation and on

disposal of a foreign operation, the gain or loss that is reclassified tdidatesstatement of profit or lossflects the
amount that arises from using this method.
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5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
5.17 Foreign currency transactions (continued)
(b) Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group eatitthsir respective functional currency
spot rate at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslatediattibadl currency spot rate
of exchange ruling at the reporting date.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognizedolidated statement of profit or
loss with the exception of monetary items that are designated as parhefitieeof the Gragus net investment of a
foreign operation. These are recognized in consolidated statement of otheelwamspve income until the net
investment is disposed of, at which time, the cumulative amount isfiddgei consolidated statement of profit or loss.
Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetgyétalso recorded in consolidated
statement of other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost mignfeurrency are translated using the exchange
rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measuredadtidain @ foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determigath ©hioss arising on translation

of non-monetary measured at fair value is treated in line with the recogoitgain or loss on change in fair value in
the item (i.e., the translation differences on items whose fair value gaissds recognized in consolidated statemen
of other comprehensive income or consolidated statement of profitsoaie also recognized in consolidated statement
of other comprehensive income or consolidated statement of profit ordepectively).

(c)  Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign subsidiaries and associatepenating in a hyper-inflationary economy,
having reporting currencies other than Saudi Riyals are translated into SaudeRiflews:

i assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the claangg eathat the date
of that consolidated statement of financial position

ii. Income and expenses for each the consolidated statement of profis aréosranslated at average
exchange rates; and

iii. Components of the shardters’ equity accounts are translated at the exchange rates in effect at the dates
the related items originated.

Cumulative adjustments resulting from the translations of the financiahstate of foreign subsidiaries and associates
into Saudi Riyals are reported as a separate component of shareholders’ equity. The exchange differences arising on
translation for consolidation are recognised in consolidated statement of atiprebensive income. On disposal of
a foreign operation, the component of consolidated statement of otheret@mgive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss.

5.18 Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contaiesse is based on the substance of the arrangement at the
inception date. The arrangement is assessed for whelfilenént of the arrangement is dependent on the use @&fGifisp

asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to ussether @ssets, even if that right is not explicitly specified in
an arrangement.
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5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
5.18 Leases(continued)
(@ Groupasalessee

Finance leases that transfer to the Group substantially thié isks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased
item, are capitalized at the commencement of the lease atrthiale of the leased property or, if lower, at the present
value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apgbtiiemveen finance charges and a reduction in the
lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interesite remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are
recognized in finance costs in the consolidated statementfifqrimss.

A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life aidbet. However, if there is no reasonable certainty th&rihep
will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the &sdepreciated over the shorter of the estimated usefuf life o
the asset and the lease term.

An operating lease is a lease other than a finance leaseatidg lease payments are recognized as an operating expense
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a straight-disis bver the lease term.

(b) Groupasalessor

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantibiheaisks and benefits of ownership of the asset assifitd
as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in rega and arranging an operating lease are added tathéng
amount of the leased asset and recognized over thetéeasen the same bases as rental income. Contingesitarent
recognized as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

5.19 Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Group that esgadpusiness activities from which it may earn revenues
and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group’s other components.

All operating segments’ operating results are reviewed by the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker “CODM?” to make
decisions about resources to be allocated to the segmérassess its performance, and for which discrete financial
information is available (see note)33

5.20 Provisions

(@ General

A provision is recognized in the consolidated statement of financial positien the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflesemdmic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount thereof can be madeeffietiieis material, provisions are
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-taxatateflédcts current market assessments of
the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specifiee tbability. The unwinding of liability is
recognised as finance cost in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(b)  Asset retirement obligation

The provision for asset retirement obligation arose on construction oétiwerking sites. A corresponding asset is
recognized in property and equipment. Asset retirement obligation is pratittezl present value of expected costs to
settle the obligation using estimated cash flows. The cash flows are discauateairent pre tax rate that reflects the
risks specific to the site restoration liability. The unwinding of the discisuerxpensed as incurred and recognized in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss as a finance cost. The estitatedcosts of decommissioning are

reviewed annually and adjusted as appropriate. Changes in the estimateddsisice in the discount rate applied are
added to or deducted from the cost of the asset.
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5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
5.21 Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation which may arise from pasttsvand whose existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncéutaie events not wholly within the control of the
Group, or a present obligation that is not recognized because it is not prittzdtde outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation. If the amount of the obligation cannot beiméasith sufficient reliability, then the
Group does not recognize the contingent liability but discloses it in the consolidated fistateiakents.

5.22 Inventories

Inventories comprise of mobile phones (handsets) and other custaengs@requipment (CPE), SIM cards, pre-paid
vouchers and scratch cards. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost radizagile value. Net realizable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business lesgithated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale. Cost is determined by using the waightee method. The Group provides for
slow-moving and obsolete inventories in the cost of services and sales in thikdeded statement of profit or loss.

5.23 Government grants

Government grants are recognized where there is reasonable assuraneegtfzert twill be received and all attached
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense itesmgdbignized as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensatgearsed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, it is recognized as income in equal ameutite expected useful life of the
related asset.

When the Group receives non-monetary grants, the asset and the grant raledrgooss at nominal amounts and
released to consolidated statement of profit or loss over the expectedliitsefuthe asset, based on the pattern of
consumption of the benefits of the underlying asset by equal aimstellments. When loans or similar assistance are
provided by governments or related institutions with an interest rate dedosutrent applicable market rate, the effect
of this favorable interest is regarded as a government grants.

6 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The estimates at date of transition to IFRS and as at the end of earliest repitidgopesented are consistent with
those made for the same dates in accordance with SOCPA (after adjustnrefiect any differences in accounting
policies) apart from post-employment benefits and decommissiorstgaeating an asset retirement obligation where
application of SOCPA did not require estimation.

The estimates used by the Group to present these amounts in accordanc®%i#ts IEndorsed in the Kingdom of
Saudi Arabia and other standards and pronouncements issued b\ 83IE€t conditions at the date of transition to
IFRS and as at the end of earliest reporting period presented.

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgmenegessti

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expessesand liabilities, and the accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about #sesemions and estimates could result
in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying awithetasset or liability affected in future periods.

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key saires8mation uncertainty at the reporting date, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carryimgrasnof assets and liabilities within the next

financial year, are described below. The Group based its assumptiongiasadiesson parameters available when the
consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstancassantptions about future developments,
however, may change due to market changes or circumstances laegomgl the control of the Group. Such changes
are reflected in the assumptions when they occur.
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6 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED)
6.1 Provisons
(@ Provision for impairment of accounts receivable

The impairment charge reflects estimates of losses arising from e failinability of the parties concerned to make
the required payments. The charge is based on the aging of the coutyteacpaunts, historic experience and the
information available on the parties’ financial position. Changes to the estimated impairment provision may be required

if the financial condition of the parties was to improve or deteriorate.

(b)  Asset retirement obligation

In the course of the Group’s activities, network and other assets are utilized on leased premises which are expected to

have costs associated with decommissioning these assets and restdoicatithe where these assets are situated upon
ceag their use on those premises. The associated cash outflows anhiohg-term in nature, are generally expected
to occur at the dates of exit of the assets to which they relate. Thesantissioning and restoration costs are
calculated on the basis of the identified costs for the current financial gydeapolated into the future based on
management’s best estimates of future trends in prices, inflation, and other factors, and are discounted to present value

at a risk-adjusted rate specifically applicable to the liability. Forecasts of tsdifaéure provisions are revised in light
of future changes in business conditions or technological requirements.

The Group records these decommissioning and restoration costs asymogdertjuipment and subsequently allocates
them to expense using a systematic and rational method over the asset’s useful life, and records the accretion of the
liability as a charge to finance costs.

6.2 Financial risk management and financial instruments

The fair value of derivative instruments, investments in publiclyettaahd private companies, and equity instruments
is determined on the basis of either prices in regulated markets or quoted pndsdoby financial counterparties,
or using valuation models which also take into account subjective measwsesnehtas, cash flow estimates or
expected volatility of prices.

6.3 Defined benefit obligations

The cost of defined benefit and the present value of the related obligatigtereided using actuarial valuations. An

actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions which may #iffier actual developments in the future.

These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary egreastality rates and. Due to the complexity
of the valuation, the underlying assumptions and its long-teranenat defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to
changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.

The parameter most subject to change is the discount rate. In deterthaismgpropriate discount rate, management
considers the interest rates of corporate bonds in currencies consigtetiteacurrencies of the post-employment
benefit obligation with at least an ‘AA’ rating or above, as set by an internationally acknowledged rating agency, and
extrapolated as needed along the yield curve to correspond with the expectefitterdefined benefit obligation.
The underlying bonds are further reviewed for quality. Those fhasxcessive credit spreads are removed from the
analysis of bonds on which the discount rate is based, on the badiehdd thot represent high quality bonds.

The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables for the specifitriesuithose mortality tables tend

to change only at intervals in response to demographic changes. salameincreases and are based on expected
future inflation rates for the respective countries.
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6 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED)
6.4  Impairment of goodwill

The impairment test on CGUs is carried out by comparing the carryiograiof CGUs and their recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount of a CGU is the higher of its fair value, lesstoostll and its value in use. This complex
valuation process used to determine fair value less costs to sell aldéirvase entails the use of methods such as
the discounted cash flow method which uses assumptions to estimatéoeashrhe recoverable amount depends
significantly on the discount rate used in the discounted cash flowlrasdavell as the expected future cash flows.

6.5 Property and equipment
(@  Useful lives of property and equipment

The useful life of each of the Group’s items of property and equipment is estimated based on the period over which the
asset is expected to be available for use. Such estimation is based on a calisetbgenent of practices of similar
businesses, internal technical evaluation, experience with similar assets heatiappf judgment as to when the
assets become available for use and the commencement of the depreciation charge.

The estimated useful life of each asset is reviewed periodically and updatqubdtations differ from previous
estimates due to physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence andthgalioits on the use of
the asset. It is possible, however, that future results of operationdeomaterially affected by changes in the amounts
and timing of recorded expenses brought about by changes actbesfmentioned above. A reduction in the estimated
useful life of any item of property and equipment would increaseettrded operating expenses and decrease non-
current assets.

(b)  Allocation of costs

The Group enters into arrangements with certain of its key suppliecé wiay include the provision of multiple
products and services including property and equipment, inventoriemaintenance and other services across a
number of reporting periods. Such arrangements may includeavisipn of free of charge assets and incentives which
enable the Group to obtain further products and services at discounted Wdunegyement aggregates, where
appropriate, such arrangements and allocates the net cost of such an aggbegaten the multiple products and
services based on its best estimate of the fair value of the individual compdrtentsost of such components is
capitalized or expensed according to the relevant accounting policy.

6.6 Zakat assessments

Provision for zakat and withholding taxes is determined by the Gro@tdordance with the requirements of the
General Authority of Zakat and Tax ("GAZT") and is subject to change lmasédal assessments received from the
GAZT. The Group recognizes liabilities for any anticipated zakat and withholdingateed on management's best
estimates of whether additional zakat/taxes will be due. The final outcome of atigradidmount assessed by the
GAZT is dependent on the eventual outcome of the appeal process vehshotlp is entitled to. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were inigatlyded, such differences could impact the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which such finahdeédion is made.

6.7 Contingencies

The Group is currently involved in various legal proceedingsniasgis of the probable costs for the resolution of these
claims, if any, have been developed in consultation with internal and external counsels handling the Group’s defense

in these matters and are based upon the prolyadfiljfotential results. The Group’s management currently believes

that these proceedings will not have a material effect on the consolidated finanaiadstatdt is possible, however,
that future results of operations could be materially affected depending éinghoutcome of the proceedings.
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6 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED)
6.8 Revenue
(@) Grossversus net presentation

When the Group sells goods or services as principal, revenue and paynpemntaers are reported on a gross basis in
revenue and operating costs. If the Group sells goods or serviaesagent, revenue and payments to partners are
recorded in revenue on a net basis, representing the margin earned.

Whether the Group is considered to be the principal or an agent in the trandapBads on analysis by management
of both the legal form and substance of the agreement betweenaiye &d its business partners; such judgments
impact the amount of reported revenue and operating expenses ot idgpact reported assets, liabilities or cash
flows. Below are the four key criteria to determine whether the Groagtiisy as a principal:

o The Group has the primary responsibility for providing the gawdservices to the customer or for fulfilling
the order, for example by being responsible for the acceptability ofrtduugis or services ordered or
purchased by the customer;

o The Group has inventory risk before or after the customer order, diniipging or on return;

o The Group has latitude in establishing prices, either directly or indirectlgx&mple by providing additional
goods or services; and,

o The Group bears the customer's credit risk on the receivable due froostbmer.

(@  Multiple element arrangements

In arrangements involving the delivery of bundled products andcssr including long-term arrangements, those
bundled products and services are separated into individual elements, eathawith separate revenue contribution
taking into the consideration the specific contractual details, evaluated Heopetspective of the customer. Total
arrangement consideration is allocated to each deliverable based on the relative daof tladuindividual element.
The Group generally determines the fair value of individual elements basedotjective and reliable assessment of
the prices at which the deliverables may be sold on a standalone basis,nkounsideration the time value of the
money. Multiple contracts with a single customer are normally accounted feeparate arrangements. In instances
where multiple contracts are entered into with a customer in a short periocepthéy are reviewed as a group to
ensure that, as with multiple element arrangements, relative fair values angriapgro

(b)  Customer Loyalty Programs:
The Group estimates the fair value of points awarded under the custg@ity firogram estimating the weighted

average cost for redemption of the points. Inputs to the modelsénciaking assumptions about expected redemption
rates, the mix of products that will be available for redemption in the futureustoimer preferences.
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7 FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS

For all periods up to and including the year ended 31 December Eih&d Etisalat Company prepared its
consolidated financial statements based on the generally accepted accountingssfaodauttjated in Saudi Arabia
by SOCPA.

The Group has prepared these consolidated financial statements in accordanédR@ithdt is endorsed in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and pronouncements lisgsB&ICPA applicable as at 31 December
2017, together with the comparative period data for the year ended 31 Decembein2pdeparing consolidated
financial statements, the Group’s opening consolidated statement of financial position was prepared as at 1 January
2016, the Group’s date of transition to IFRS that is endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other stemdadd
pronouncements issued by SOCHAIs note explains the principal adjustments made by Etihad Etisalat Company
adjusting its SOCPA consolidated financial statements for the year enst8ber 2016.

IFRS 1 allows first-time adopters certain exemptions from the retrospagilieation of certain requirements under
IFRS. The following exemptions are ones adopted by the Group:

* IFRS 3°Business Combinatiohdias not been applied to either acquisitions of subsidiaries that are considered
businesses under IFRS, or acquisitions of interests in associatesranefptures that occurred before 1 January
2016. Use of this exemption means that the SOCPA’s carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, that are required
to be recognized under IFRS, is their deemed cost at the date of the acquiidiothe date of the acquisition,
measurement is in accordance with IFRS as endorsed in the Kingdeaudi Arabia and other standards and
pronouncements issued by SOCPA. Assets and liabilities that do not dfoalifgcognition under IFRS are
excluded from the opening consolidated statement of financial position baséd®k8n The Group did not
recognize or exclude any previously recognized amounts as a restR®fécognition requirements. IFRS 1 also
requires that the SOCPA carrying amount of goodwill must be used iopdrEng consolidated statement of
financial position based on IFRS as endorsed in the Kingdom of SaathiaAand other standards and
pronouncements issued by SOCPA (apart from adjustments fawidbdmpairment and recognition or
derecognition of intangible assets). In accordance with IFRS 1, the Grotgstes goodwill for impairment at
the date of transition to IFRS that is endorsed in the Kingdom of SauwadiiaAand other standards and
pronouncements issued by SOCPA. No goodwill impairment was desnedsary at 1 January 2016.

+ The Group has applied the transitional provisions in IASB8rowing Costsand capitalizes borrowing costs
relating to all qualifying assets after the date of transition. Similarly, the Giamipot restated for borrowing costs
capitalized under SOCPA on qualifying assets prior to the date of transitieR$o

Estimates

The estimates dt January 2016 and as at 31 December 2016 are consistent with thaséomthe same dates in
accordance with SOCPA (after adjustments to reflect any differences iméiogppolicies) apart from the following
items:

» End of service benefits
»  Provision for decommissioning liability
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7 FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS (CONTINUED)

7.1 Group reconciliation of the consolidated statement of financial position and equity asat 1 January 2016

(date of transition to IFRS)

Notes SOCPA Effect of Re- IFRS
transition classification

Assets
Non-current assets
Property and equipment 7(b) 24,466,197 93,411 (533) 24,559,075
Intangible assets 8,026,213 - 1,467,398 9,493,611
Goodwill 1,466,865 - (1,466,865) -
Capital advances 982,048 - - 982,048
Available for sale investments 19,003 (11,732) - 7,271
Total non-current assets 34,960,326 81,679 - 35,042,005
Current assets
Inventories 485,859 - - 485,859
Accounts receivable 3,424,090 - - 3,424,090
Due fromarelated party 36,508 - - 36,508
Prepaid expenses and other assets 1,722,022 - (57,480) 1,664,542
Held to maturity investments 1,250,000 - - 1,250,000
Cash and cash equivalents 497,570 - - 497,570
Total current assets 7,416,049 - (57,480) 7,358,569
Total assets 42,376,375 81,679 (57,480) 42,400,574
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital 7,700,000 - - 7,700,000
Statutory reserve 2,648,971 - - 2,648,971
Retained earnings 5,210,295 (378,848) - 4,831,447
Foreign currency translation reserve - - (8,168) (8,168)
Total shareholders’ equity 15,559,266 (378,848) (8,168) 15,172,250
Non-controlling interest 1,500 - - 1,500
Total Equity 15,560,766 (378,848) (8,168) 15,173,750
Non-current liabilities
Loans and notes payable 8,508,553 - - 8,508,553
Provision for employees’ end of service
benefits 7(a) 239,854 66,194 - 306,048
Deferred government grants income  7(d) - 179,295 (57,308) 121,987
Provision for decommissioning liability 7(b) - 196,448 - 196,448
Total non-current liabilities 8,748,407 441,937 (57,308) 9,133,036
Current liabilities
Loans and notes payable 5,766,262 - - 5,766,262
Accounts payable 6,535,866 - - 6,535,866
Due to related parties 210,970 - - 210,970
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 5,476,393 - (1,114,975) 4,361,418
Provisions - - 1,122,971 1,122,971
Zakat provision 77,711 - - 77,711
Deferred government grants income  7(d) - 18,590 - 18,590
Total current liabilities 18,067,202 18,590 7,996 18,093,788
Total liabilities 26,815,609 460,527 (49,312) 27,226,824
Total equity and liabilities 42,376,375 81,679 (57,480) 42,400,574
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7 FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS (CONTINUED)

7.2 Group reconciliation of the consolidated statement of financial position and equity as at 31 December

2016

Notes SOCPA Effect of Re- IFRS
transition classification

Assets
Non-current assets
Property and equipment 7(b) 24,406,393 89,211 (230) 24,495,374
Intangible assets 7,520,598 - 1,467,095 8,987,693
Goodwill 1,466,865 - (1,466,865) -
Capital advances 893,816 - 1,396 895,212
Available for sale investments 19,003 (11,732) - 7,271
Total non-current assets 34,306,675 77,479 1,396 34,385,550
Current assets
Inventories 200,072 - - 200,072
Accounts receivable 3,701,340 - - 3,701,340
Due fromarelated party 69,568 - - 69,568
Prepaid expenses and other assets 1,698,949 - (95) 1,698,854
Held to maturity investments 350,000 - - 350,000
Cash and cash equivalents 866,109 - - 866,109
Total current assets 6,886,038 - (95) 6,885,943
Total assets 41,192,713 77,479 1,301 41,271,493
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital 7,700,000 - - 7,700,000
Statutory reserve 2,648,971 - - 2,648,971
Retained earnings 5,007,315 (392,195) - 4,615,120
Foreign currency translation reserve - - (9,111) (9,111)
Total shareholders’ equity 15,356,286 (392,195) (9,111) 14,954,980
Non-controlling interest 1,500 - - 1,500
Total Equity 15,357,786 (392,195) (9,111) 14,956,480
Non-current liabilities
Loans and notes payable 7,600,851 - - 7,600,851
Provision for employees’ end of service
benefits 7(@) 281,737 61,005 - 342,742
Deferred revenue - - 89,167 89,167
Deferred government grants income  7(d) - 180,064 - 180,064
Provision for decommissioning liability 7(b) - 209,374 - 209,374
Total non-current liabilities 7,882,588 450,443 89,167 8,422,198
Current liabilities
Loans and notes payable 7,607,902 - - 7,607,902
Accounts payable 4,520,036 - 1,396 4,521,432
Due to related parties 138,420 - - 138,420
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 5,631,463 - (1,238,259) 4,393,204
Provisions - - 1,158,108 1,158,108
Zakat provision 54,518 - - 54,518
Deferred government grants income  7(d) - 19,231 - 19,231
Total current liabilities 17,952,339 19,231 (78,755) 17,892,815
Total liabilities 25,834,927 469,674 10,412 26,315,013
Total equity and liabilities 41,192,713 77,479 1,301 41,271,493
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7 FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS (CONTINUED)

7.3 Group reconciliation of the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December

2016

Re-
~ _ SOCPA transtion ~ classification IFRS

Revenue 12,569,397 - - 12,569,397
Cost of sales (5,144,112) - - (5,144,112)
Gross profit 7,425,285 - - 7,425,285
Selling and marketing expenses 7(a) (1,272,775) 2,607 - (1,270,168)
General and administrative expenses  7(a) (2,143,091) 5,272 - (2,137,819)
Depreciation and amortization 7(b) (3,774,673) (7,156) - (3,781,829)
Other income 7(d) - (1,409) 52,616 51,207
Operating profit / (loss) 234,746 (686) 52,616 286,676
Finance expenses 7(b) (556,414) (9,970) - (566,384)
Finance income - - 22,741 22,741
Other income 75,357 - (75,357) -
L oss befor e zakat (246,311) (10,656) - (256,967)
Zakat 43,331 - - 43,331
Lossfor the year (202,980) (10,656) - (213,636)
Lossattributableto:
Owners of the Company (202,980) (10,656) - (213,636)
Non-controlling interest - - - -
Lossfor the year (202,980) (10,656) - (213,636)
Loss per share:
Basic and diluted loss per share (in S (0.26) (0.02) - (0.28)
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7 FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS (CONTINUED)
74 Group reconciliation of the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2016
Effect of
SOCPA transition IFRS
Lossfor the year (202,980) (10,656) (213,636)
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit
or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign
operations - (943) (943)
Net total itemsthat will be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss - (943) (943)
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:
Actuarial loss on reaeasurement of employees’ end
of service benefits - (2,691) (2,691)
Net total itemsthat will not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss - (2,691) (2,691)
Total other comprehensive lossfor the year - (3,634) (3,634)
Total comprehensivelossfor the year (202,980) (14,290) (217,270)
Total comprehensivelossfor theyear attributable
to:
Owners of the Company (202,980) (14,290) (217,270)
Non-controlling interest - - -
Total comprehensivelossfor the year (202,980) (14,290) (217,270)
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7 FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS (CONTINUED)
a) Provision for employees’ end of service benefits

Under SOCPA, the Group recognized costs relating to its employees’ end of service benefits on an accrual basis. Under
IFRS as endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standdrgsomouncements issued by SOCPA, costs
relating to the employees’ end of service benefits are recognized based on an actuarial valuation.

b) Provision for decommissioning liability

Under SOCPA, a provision for decommissioning liability is not requirerlvever, under IFRS as endorsed in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and pronouncemenrgsl iBguSOCPA, the cost of property and
equipment should also include an initial estimate of the costs required tdrsetildigation, when an entity is obliged
to dismantle and remove the related equipment and restore the siterigiiital condition. The present value of the
said liability is accounted for as a non-current liability, is reviewed annaatl adjusted as appropriate for changes in
the underlying assumptions.

C) Intangible assets

Under SOCPA, there is no guidance in determining whether an assebthbines both intangible and tangible
elements should be treated as property and equipment or as an intangtbléradesy IFRS as endorsed in the Kingdom
of Saudi Arabia and other standards and pronouncements isSBE&IORA, an entity uses judgment in assessing which
element is more significant. For example, computer software for a congmutieolled machine that cannot operate
without that specific computer software is treated as an integral part of the reled@dire and is treated as property
and equipment. Similarly, when the software is not an integral paheofelated hardware, they are treated as an
intangible asset.

d) Government grants
Under SOCPA, grant income was recognized when the conditions attachedaaltbeant were fulfilled. However,
under IFRS as endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other staaddmdonouncements issued by SOCPA

government grants income shall be recognized in consolidated statemgifitafr loss on a systematic basis, to match
them with the related costs for which they are intended to compensate.
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8 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
L easehold Telecommunication Computer Office Capital
Land Buildings . network equipment equipment Vehicles work in Total
Improvements . .
equipment and software and furniture progress
Cost:
At 1 January 2016 274,710 1,221,544 833,648 33,078,502 4,261,581 499,024 3,046 811,810 40,983,865
Additions - 9,014 12,815 2,143,098 528,463 1,699 - 486,492 3,181,581
Reclassification - (103,666) (7,545) 111,211 - - - - -
Transfers - 39,560 - 408,848 12,103 - - (460,511) -
Disposals - - - - (153) - - - (153)
At 31 December 2016 274,710 1,166,452 838,918 35,741,659 4,801,994 500,723 3,046 837,791 44,165,293
Additions - 12,504 1,630 1,708,788 336,700 2,661 - 175,94€ 2,238,229
Reclassification - (12,981) - 12,981 - - - - -
Transfers - 11,788 - 245,070 10,697 105 - (267,60) -
Disposals - (354) (959) (15,963) (64) - - - (17,340)
At 31 December 2017 274,710 1,177,409 839,589 37,692,535 5,149,327 503,89 3,046 746,077 46,386,182
Depreciation:
At 1 January 2016 - 143,334 542,517 12,761,854 2,537,782 437,682 1,621 - 16,424,790
Charge for the year - 53,035 69,516 2,552,577 549,531 20,171 430 - 3,245,260
Reclassifications - (3,980) (949) 4,929 - - - - -
Disposals - - - - (131) - - - (131)
At 31 December 2016 - 192,389 611,084 15,319,360 3,087,182 457,853 2,051 - 19,669,919
Charge for the year - 46,019 57,017 2,634,732 544,182 16,840 355 - 3,299,145
Reclassification - (585) (439) 585 283 156 - - -
Disposals - (114) (929) (10,118) (62) - - - (11,223)
At 31 December 2017 - 237,709 666,733 17,944,559 3,631,585 474,849 2,406 - 22,957,841
Net book value:
At 31 December 2017 274,710 939,700 172,856 19,747,976 1,517,742 28,640 640 746,077 23,428,341
At 31 December 2016 274,710 974,063 227,834 20,422,299 1,714,812 42,870 995 837,791 24,495,374
At 1 January 2016 274,710 1,078,210 291,131 20,316,648 1,723,799 61,342 1,425 811,810 24,559,075

The Group has capitalized borrowing costs during the year ended 31 De@&hBeamounting to SR06 million (31 December 2016: SR 95 million and 1 January 2016GR

million) and internal technical salaries amounting tol8Rmillion (31 December 2016: SR 162 million and 1 January 2016: SRnilfon).
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9 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Telecommunication Indefeasible
. . Goodwill Right of Use Others Total
services licenses
(IRU)
Cost:
1 January 2016 13,083,795 1,466,865 1,060,030 97,689 15,708,379
Additions - - 30,651 - 30,651
31 December 2016 13,083,795 1,466,865 1,090,681 97,689 15,739,030
Additions - - 30,064 - 30,064
31 December 2017 13,083,795 1,466,865 1,120,745 97,689 15,769,044
Amortization:
1 January 2016 5,842,131 - 275,481 97,156 6,214,768
Charge for the year 454,721 - 81,545 303 536,569
31 December 2016 6,296,852 - 357,026 97,459 6,751,337
Charge for the year 245,145 - 81,835 230 327,210
31 December 2017 6,541,997 - 438,861 97,689 7,078,547
Net book value:
At 31 December 2017 6,541,798 1,466,865 681,884 - 8,690,547
At 31 December 2016 6,786,943 1,466,865 733,655 230 8,987,693
At 1 January 2016 7,241,664 1,466,865 784,549 533 9,493,611
9.1 GOODWILL
Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated as follows:
31 December 31 December 1 January
2017 2016 2016

Bayanat Al-Oula for Network Services Company 1,466,865 1,466,865 1,466,865

The Group has tested separately recognized goodwill for impairmentedtneerable amount has been determined
based on valuér-use, using discounted cash flow analysis. The cash flow projs@ienbased on approved budget.
The discount rate used is 10% and terminal value growth rate éf61.50

The recoverable amount of the CGU as at 31 December 2017 amounted tat ®Rlidid (31 December 2016: SR
16.7 billion and 1 January 2016: SR 12.2 billion) has been deteriéasadl on a valuie-use calculation using cash
flow projections from financial budgets covering a five years pefibe pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow
projections is 10%31 December 2016: 10% and 1 January 2016: 10%) and cash flows libgdhgearperiod are
extrapolated using a 1.5% growth rad& December 2016: 1.5% and 1 January 2016: 1.5%). It was concluded that the
carrying value of the goodwill has not exceeded the vialuese. As a result of this analysis, management has not
recognized any impairment loss.

The cash flow forecasts of capital expenditures are based on past expedepted with additional capital
expenditures required for roll out of incremental coverage requitsnand to provide enhanced voice and data
services.

Key assumptions used in value-in-use calculations

The calculation of valué-use for telecommunications and network equipment are most sensitive tildiagéng
assumptions:

- Discount rate
- Terminal growth rate
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9 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
9.1 GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Discount rate

Discount rate represents the current market assessment of the risks &peaifit cash generating unit and calculation
is based on the specific circumstances of the Group and its operatingrée and derived from its weighted average
cost of capital (WACC). The WACC takes into account both debt and edibiycost of equity is derived from the
expected return on investment by the Group’s investors. The cost of debt is based on the interest-bearing borrowings
the Group is obliged to service and segment-specific risk is in@gubrThe pre-tax discount rate used is 10% (31
December 2016: 10% and 1 January 2016: 10%).

Terminal growth rate
The growth rate used does not exceed the long term average growth tateemtity. This rate assumed 1.534 (
December 2016: 1.5% and 1 January 2016: 1.5%).

Sensitivity to changesin assumptions
The implications of the key assumptions for the recoverable amourseaussed below:

Discount rate
Arise in the pre-tax discount rate beyond 32% (i.e., +228%pécember 2016: 30% (i.e., +20 %) and 1 January 2016:
22% (i.e., +12%)) in the CGU would result in an impairment loss.

Terminal growth rate

Management recognizes that the speed of technological changes andgiditgyoof new entrants can have a
significant impact on terminal growth rate assumptions. The effecwfemtrants is not expected to have an adverse
impact on the forecasts, but could yield a reasonably possible alternathee éstimated long-term growth rate of
1.5%. A reduction to 093 December 2016: 0% and 1 January 2016: 0%) in the long-term gratetivould not
result in an impairment loss.

10 INVENTORIES
31 December 31 December 1 January
2017 2016 2016
Handsets and Customer premises equipment (CPEs 377,648 482,083 712,284
SIM cards 38,159 32,497 59,975
Prepaid vouchers and scratch cards 7,569 10,285 17,589
423,376 524,865 789,848
Less: provision for inventory obsolescence (282,794) (324,793) (303,989)
140,582 200,072 485,859

The movement of the provision for inventory obsolescence is as follows

31 December 31 December
2017 2016
Balance at the beginning of the year (324,793) (303,989)
Reversal / (Charge) during the year 8,942 (20,804)
Written off during the year 33,057 -
Balance at the end of the year (282,794) (324,793)
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11 ACCOUNTSRECEIVABLE

31 December 31 December 1 January

2017 2016 2016
Accounts receivable 5,286,293 6,431,214 5,809,870
Less: provision for doubtful debts (1,655,490) (2,729,874) (2,385,780)
3,630,803 3,701,340 3,424,090

The movement of the provision for doubtful debts is as follows:

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
Balance at the beginning of the year (2,729,874) (2,385,780)
Charge during the year (233,896) (551,692)
Written off during the year 1,308,280 207,598
Balance at the end of the year (1,655,490) (2,729,874)

12 RELATED PARTIESTRANSACTIONSAND BALANCES
During the year, the Group transacted with following related parties:

Party Relationship

Emirates Telecommunication CorporatienEtisalat
and its subsidiaries

Emirates Data Clearing House

Founding shareholder

Affiliate to Emirates Telecommunication Corporation

The Group transacted with related parties in ordinary course of budtioiesiing are the details of major transactions

with related parties:

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
Interconnection services and roaming services rendered 102,338 77,383
Interconnection services and roaming services received 147,491 80,327
Management fees 22,524 36,681
Other management expenses 28,670 63,364
Telecommunication services 4,224 4,488
Other services 2,512 4,380

Balances with related parties 31 December 31 December 1 January

2017 2016 2016
Balance due from 52,419 69,568 36,508
Balance due to 92,590 138,420 210,970

Compensation and benefits to key management personnel

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
Short term employee benefits 54,155 43,742
Post-employment benefits 1,884 1,376
Total compensation and benefits to key management personnel 56,039 45,118
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12 RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (CONTINUED)

Services rendered to related parties comprise of the provision of telecommunseatiice, interconnection services
and roaming services by the Group based on normal commercial ternise Sezeeived from related parties comprise
of telecommunication service, interconnection services and roaming service&toupeased on normal commercial
terms. Management fees and other management expenses are calculated thasedevant agreements with Emirates
Telecommunication Corporation. The balances due to and from related partinsesmgred and will be settled in cash.

Transactions with key management personnel comprise of remunsr&tidBoard of Directors and other senior
management members who are key management personnel of the Group.

13 PREPAID EXPENSESAND OTHER ASSETS

31 December 31 December 1 January

2017 2016 2016
Prepaid expenses 342,782 376,666 426,623
Accrued revenues 251,444 216,596 356,213
Deferred costs 227,634 178,901 173,983
Advance payments to trade suppliers 78,430 91,024 116,480
Others 558,553 835,667 591,243

1,458,843 1,698,854 1,664,542

14 HELD TO MATURITY INVESTMENTS

Held to maturity investments represent placements in batrdifferent profit rates and with maturities between three
monthsto one year. Interest income arising from these held to maturity investimeaorted under finance incem

in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

15 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

31 December 31 December 1 January
2017 2016 2016
Cash on hand 1,033 905 936
Cash at banks 1,191,148 865204 496,634
1,192,181 866,109 497,570
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16 LOANSAND NOTESPAYABLE

31 December 31 December 1 January
2017 2016 2016
Loans and notes payable 14,879,672 15,208,753 14,274,815
Less: Current portion (1,410,638) (7,607,902) (5,766,262)
Non-current portion 13,469,034 7,600,851 8,508,553
a) Maturity profile of loans and notes payable:
31 December 31 December 1 January
2017 2016 2016
Less than one year 1,410,638 7,607,902 5,766,262
Between one to five years 8,380,034 6,488,851 8,508,553
Over five years 5,089,000 1,112,000 -

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group has succesdindgpaed its maturing obligations under the
Airtime and Bayanat syndicated facilities amounting to SR 7.8 billion avitbw syndicated facility of SR 7.9 billion
over 7 years maturity. As a result, SR 6 billion has been re-classifiedon-current liabilities compared to
31 December 2016. All the facilities are appropriately classified into current arcun@nt.
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16 LOANSAND NOTESPAYABLE (CONTINUED)

b) The details of loans and notes payable as at 31 December 2017 are as follows:

Long-

Lender Borrowing Loan nature| Borrowing Purpose _Date Currency Principal Utilized Profit rate Payment Period Curr.ent term Total Other
Company issue amount amount terms portion portion terms
Local banks | Mobily Long-term | Refinancing the Q1, Saudi Saudi Saudi Murabaha| Scheduled |7 Saudi |Saudi |Saudi |-
Syndicated refinancing | maturing obligations| 2017 | Riyals Riyals Riyals rate is installments| years | Riyals | Riyals |Riyals
facility under Airtime and 7,889 7,889 based on | as per loan -17 7,803 |7,786
agreement | Bayanat Facilities million million SIBOR agreement million | million | million
Sharia’ plus a
compliant fixed
profit
margin
Export Credit| Mobily Long-term | Acquiring network | Q3, us USD 642 USD 642 Fixed rate | Scheduled |10 Saudi |Saudi |Saudi | Utilization
Agency of financing | equipment from 201 Dollars | million million per annum installments| years | Riyals | Riyals |Riyals |period of
Finland agreement | Nokia Siemens (Saudi (Saudi 276 1,105 |1,381 |1.5years,
(Finnvera) & Sharia’ Networks (NSN) ang Riyals 2.4 |Riyals 2.4 million | million | million |repayment
Swedish compliant | Ericsson to upgrade billion) billion) period of
Export Credit and enhance the 8.5 years
Corporation infrastructure
(EKN) capabilities,

introduce new
technologies, and
strengthen the
Company’s
competitiveness in
the business segme
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16 LOANSAND NOTESPAYABLE (CONTINUED)
Borrowing : Date Principal Utilized fi Payment .| Current Long- | Other
Lender Company Loan nature| Borrowing Purpose issue Currency amount amount Profit rate terms Period portion ptoerrtirgn Total terms
Export Credit | Mobily Long-term | Acquiring network | Q1, UsD USD 444 |USD 344 | Fixed rate| Scheduled |10 Saudi |Saudi |Saudi | Utilization
Agency of financing equipment from 201 Dollars | million million per annun installments| years | Riyals | Riyals |Riyals |period of
Finland agreement | Nokia Siemens (Saudi (Saudi 165 1,044 1,209 |1.5years,
(Finnvera) & Sharia’ Networks (NSN) ang Riyals Riyals million | million | million |repayment
Swedish compliant | Ericsson to upgrade 1,664 1,290 period of
Export Credit and enhance the million) million) 8.5 years
Corporation infrastructure
(EKN)) capabilities,
introduce new
technologies, and
strengthen the
Company’s
competitiveness in
the business segme
Saudi Mobily Long-term | Financing the Q1, Saudi Saudi Saudi Murabaha| Scheduled | 7.5 Saudi |Saudi |Saudi |-
Investment financing Company’s working | 201 Riyals Riyals 1.5 |Riyals 1.5 |[rateis installments| years | Riyals | Riyals | Riyals
Bank agreement | capital requirements billion billion based on 196 1,011 | 1,207
Sharia’ SIBOR million | million | million
compliant plus a
fixed
profit
margin.
CIsco Mobily Vendor Acquiring CISCO | Q1, us USD 135 USD 93.69 | Fixed rate | Semi- 3 Saudi |Saudi |Saudi |-
Systems financing network equipment | 2014 | Dollars | million million annual years | Riyals | Riyals |Riyals
International agreement | and software (Saudi (Saudi repayments 39 14 53
solutions Riyals Riyals million | million | million
506.8 351.34
million) million)
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16 LOANSAND NOTESPAYABLE (CONTINUED)

. o . Long-

Lender Bcoc:rrnc:)\’:r?f L oan nature| Borrowing Purpose iDs:jg Currency P;é?:&?\?l g:}gﬁ?ﬁ Profit rate P?grrzqesnt Period Cpg:triir:]t ptoerrtirgn Total ?etr%e;
Export Mobily Long-term | Acquiring a telecom{ Q2, us UsSD 122 uUsD 101 Fixed rate | Semi- 10.5 |Saudi |Saudi |Saudi |Utilization
Development financing munication devices | 201 Dollars | million million per annuni annual years | Riyals |Riyals |Riyals |period of 2
of Canada agreement |and equipment from (Saudi (Saudi repayments 41 248 289 years
(EDC) Sharia’ Alcatel-Lucent Riyals 458 | Riyals 377 million | million | million |repayment

compliant million) million) period of
8.5 years
Samba Mobily Long-term | Financing its Q3, Saudi Saudi Saudi Murabaha| Semi- 7 Saudi |Saudi |Saudi |-
financing | working capital 201 Riyals Riyals 600 |Riyals 600 |rate is annual years | Riyals | Riyals |Riyals
agreement | requirements million million based on | scheduled 78 327 405
Sharia’ SIBOR installments million | million | million
compliant plus a
fixed
profit
margin
Banque Saud| Mobily Long-term | Financing its capital| Q3, Saudi Saudi Saudi Murabaha| Semi- 7 Saudi |Saudi |Saudi |-
Fransi financing expenditures and | 201 Riyals Riyals Riyals rate is annual years | Riyals |Riyals |Riyals
agreement | working capital 500 million | 500 million | based on | scheduled 50 337 387
Sharia’ requirements SIBOR installments million | million | million
compliant plus a
fixed
profit
margin
Other debts | Mobily & |Vendor Vendor financing - Saudi Saudi Saudi - Sporadic |3 Saudi |Saudi |Saudi |-
(promissory |Bayanat |Financing | Ericson, Huawei, Riyals Riyals Riyals payments |years|Riyals |Riyals |Riyals
notes and Thales, CCS 1,090 1,090 485 96 581
discounted million million million | million | million
invoices)

50




Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the yeaended31 December 2017
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

16 LOANSAND NOTESPAYABLE (CONTINUED)

. o . Long-

Lender Bcoc:rrnc:)\’:r?f L oan nature| Borrowing Purpose iDs:jg Currency P;é?:&?\?l g:}gﬁ?ﬁ Profit rate P?grrzqesnt Period Cpg:triir:]t ptoerrtirgn Total ?etr%e;
Al-Rajhi Mobily Mid-term Financing its capital | Q1, Saudi Saudi Saudi Murabaha| Scheduled |3.5 |Saudi |Saudi |Saudi |-
Bank financing expenditures and | 201 Riyals Riyals 400 | Riyals 400 |rate is payments |years|Riyals |Riyals |Riyals

agreement | working capital million million based on 99 200 299
Sharia’ requirements SIBOR million | million | million
compliant plus a
fixed
profit
margin
Alinma Bank | Mobily Long-term | Financing its capital | Q4, Saudi Saudi Saudi Murabaha| Scheduled |10 Saudi |Saudi |Saudi |-
financing | expenditures and | 201 Riyals Riyals Riyals rate is installments| years | Riyals | Riyals | Riyals
agreement | working capital 2,000 1,300 based on -2 1,284 1,282
Sharia’ requirements million million SIBOR million | million | million
compliant plus a
fixed
profit
margin
Total Saudi Saudi Saudi
Riyals Riyals Riyals
1,410 13,469 14,879
million | million | million

51



Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the yeaended31 December 2017
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

16 LOANSAND NOTESPAYABLE (CONTINUED)

¢) Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flows arising framafficing activities;

Loansand notes  Non-controlling Total
payable interest

Balance as 1 January 2017 15,208,753 1,500 15,210,533
Changes from financing activities

Proceeds from loans and notes payable 9,270,506 - 9,270,506
Payment of loans and notes payable (9,559,722) - (9,559,722)
Non-controlling interest - (1,500) (1,500)
Total changes from financing activities (289,216) (1,500) (290,716)
Other changes

Finance expenses 678,443 - 678,443
Unwind of discount (9,905) - (9,905)
Finance expenses paid (652,573) - (652,573)
Capitalized borrowing cost 105,560 - 105,560
Payment of upfront fees (145,480) - (145,480)
Accrued interest payable movement (15,910) - (15,910)
Total liability related to other changes (39,865) - (39,865)
Balance as 31 December 2017 14,879,672 - 14,879,672

17 PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEES’ END OF SERVICE BENEFITS

The Group has a post-employment defined benefit plan. The benefits areaddyuaudi Labor and Workman Law.
The benefit is based on employees’ final salaries and allowances and their cumulative years of service, as stated in the
laws of Saudi Arabia.

The following table summarizes the components of the net benefit expeogrized in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and consolidated statement of comprehensive inconserenuohts recognized in the consolidated
statement of financial positn.

Net expense recoghnized in consolidated statement of profit or loss:

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
Service cost 47,482 44,035
Interest cost 13,461 14,007
60,943 58,042

Movement of provision for employseend of service benefits recognized in the consolidated statement of financia
positionis as follows:

31 December 31 December
2017 2016

Balance at the beginning of the year 342,742 306,048
Charge recognized in consolidated statement of profit or loss 60,943 58,042
Actuarial (gain)/loss recognized in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income (5,604) 2,691
Benefits paid (18,669) (24,039)
Balance at the end of the year 379,412 342,742
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17 PROVISION FOR EMPLOYEES’ END OF SERVICE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

Significant assumptions used in determining the provision for employwrel of service benefits includes the
following:

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
Discount rate 4.3% 4.6%
Future salary increase rate 2% 2%
Death while in service 0% 0%
Withdrawal before normal retirement life 5% 8%

Reasonably possible change to one of the relevant actuarial assurhptiting other assumptions constant would
have effected the provision for employeend of service benefits by the following amounts:

Sensitivity Level 31 December 31 December
2017 2016
Increase of 1% Decrease of 1% Increase of 1% Decrease of 1¥
Discount rate (39,878) 47,948 (38,620) 45,800
Future salary increase rate 3,593 (3,206) 3,922 (2,326)

The sensitivity analysis above may not be representative of an actual ainangégsion for employeg end of service
benefits as it is unlikely that changes in assumptions would occur in isa}atioe another.

At 31 December 2017, the weighted-average duration of the defined benefitgddB.95 years (2016: 14.53 years).
18 DEFERRED GOVERNMENT GRANTSINCOME

The Group benefited from certain subsidies by Communication andmafion Technology Commission under
Universal Service Fund service agreement. These subsidies were conditiondkeomeimation of network services in
the mandatory service locations. They were initially recognized as deferrechgent grants income and are being

amortized over the useful life of the underlying network assets.

19 PROVISION FOR DECOMISSIONING LIABILITY

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
Balance at the beginning of the year 209,374 196,448
Additions during the year 3,030 2,956
Unwind of discount 9,905 9,970
Utilization during the year (791) -
Balance at the end of the year 221,518 209,374

20 ACCOUNTSPAYABLE
31 December 31 December 1 January

2017 2016 2016
Capital expenditure payable 1,995,283 2,204,310 4,781,845
Trade accounts payable 2,812,719 2,317,122 1,754,021
4,808,002 4,521,432 6,535,866
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21 ACCRUED EXPENSESAND OTHER LIABILITIES

31 December 31 December 1 January

2017 2016 2016
Deferred revenues 1,726,522 1,535,757 1,323,753
Accrued telecommunication expenses 856,049 882,779 887,178
Accrued services and maintenance expenses 327,160 429,165 482,748
Accrued selling and marketing expenses 435,043 412,763 544,428
Others 995,520 1,132,740 1,123,311

4,340,294 4,393,204 4,361,418

22 ZAKAT PROVISION

The Group is subject to zakat according to the regulations of the Generaliutfidtakat and Tax (GAZT) in the
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The Group files its zakat returns on a tidated basis, starting from the financial year
ended December 31, 2009 and thereafter, where it includes the Compdtyysatudidiaries due to the fact that the
Group is one economic entity wholly owned and managed by the &gmp

The Group has filed its zakat returns with GAZT for the years throQgs and settled its zakat thereon. During the
year ended 31 December 2016, the Group submitted adjusted zakat fattimesyears 2013 and 2014, as a result of
restatement of the consolidated financial statements for the said years.

The Group has finalized its zakat status and obtained the final zakat asgedsmihe years until 2006. The Group
has received zakat assessments for the years 2007 through 201bweat additional zakat and withholding tax
assessments of SR 317 million and SR 237 million respectively, wizied been appealed by the Group at the
Preliminary and Higher Appeal Committees. During the year ended 31 DecdhibeiThe Appeal Committee issued
its ruling on certain zakat and withholding tax matters and those rigisigsd against the Group have been appealed
at the Higher Appeal Committee. Management believes that it has sufficientigtowrontest the matters included in
the assessments and the eventual outcome of the appeal process will notaesuidnificant liability.

221  CALCULATION OF ADJUSTED NET LOSS

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
Loss before zakat (647,531) (246,311)
Depreciation - (719,949)
Provisions (1,028,657) 442,570
Adjusted net lossfor the year (1,676,188) (523,690)

222 ZAKAT BASE CALCULATION

The significant components of the zakat base under zakat regulations eigaflyicomprised of the following:

31 December 31 December
Note 2017 2016

Adjusted net loss for the year 22.1 (1,676,188) (523,690)
Shareholder’s equity at beginning of the year 14,964,091 15,559,266
Provisions at beginning of the year 4,763,820 4,031,320
Loans and notes payable 14,879,672 15,208,754
Other additions 1,995,283 2,204,311
Property and equipment and intangible assets (32,118,888) (32,582,125)
Other deductions (867,175) (1,731,606)
Total zakat base 1,940,615 2,166,230

Zakat is payable at 2.5 percent of zakat base.
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22 ZAKAT PROVISION (CONTINUED)

22.3 PROVISION FOR ZAKAT

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
Balance at the beginning of the year 54,518 77,711
Charge during the year * 61,410 53,932
Payments during the year (67,050) (77,125)
Balance at the end of the year 48,878 54,518

* Zakat charge for the year 2016 includes an amount of SR 97.2 millidoh represents partial reversal of the excess
zakat paid to GAZT as a result of the restatement of consolidated financial statemgn@years 2013 and 2014. The
Company has submitted revised zakat returns for the said years ditihg 2

23 FINANCIAL ASSETSAND LIABILITIES
231 FINANCIAL ASSETS

31 December 31 December 1 January
2017 2016 2016

Financial assetsat fair value:
Avalilable for sale investments - unquoted equity 7271 7271 7271
shares
Total financial assetsat fair value 7,271 7,271 7,271
Financial assets at amortized cost:
Accounts receivables 3,630,803 3,701,340 3,424,090
Due fromarelated party 52,419 69,568 36,508
Held to maturity investments 1,000,000 350,000 1,250,000
Cash and cash equivalents 1,192,181 866,109 497,570
Total financial assets at amortized cost 5,875,403 4,987,017 5,208,168
Total financial assets 5,882,674 4,994,288 5,215,439
Current financial assets 5,875,403 4,987,017 5,208,168
Non-current financial assets 7,271 7,271 7,271
Total financial assets 5,882,674 4,994,288 5,215,439

Availablefor saleinvestments - unquoted equity shares

Available for sale investments include unlisted securities amounting to SRIlib8 (81 December 2016: SR 7.3
million and 1 January 2016: SR 7.3 million) carried at cost less accumirfgiaitment losses due to absence of an
active market for the equity securities.
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23 FINANCIAL ASSETSAND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

232 FINANCIAL LIABILTIIES

31 December 31 December 1 January
2017 2016 2016

Financial liabilities at amortized cost:

Loans and notes payable 14,879,672 15,208,753 14,274,815
Accounts payable 4,808,002 4,521,432 6,535,866
Due to related parties 92,590 138,420 210,970
Total financial liabilities at amortized cost 19,780,264 19,868,605 21,021,651
Current financial liabilities 6,311,230 12,267,754 12,513,098
Non-current financial liabilities 13,469,034 7,600,851 8,508,553
Total financial liabilities 19,780,264 19,868,605 21,021,651

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortized aust significantly different from
their carrying amounts.

233 RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use ofdiabimstruments:

- Credit risk

- Liquidity risk

- Market risk
Risk management is carried out by senior management under policieseappy the Board of Directors. Senior
management identifies, evaluates and hedges when appropriate, financial ¢cleks coeperation with the Group’s
operating units.
2331 CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer onteoparty to a financial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations. The Group is exposed to credit risk princijpaity Cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, due from a related party and held to maturity investments.
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum creditilexpos
Cash and cash equivalents and held to maturity investments
Cash and cash equivalents and held to maturity investments areithetdunterparties with sound credit ratings. The
Group regularly updates its cash flow and, where appropriate, placescasg eash on short-term investments with
reputable financial institutions.

Accountsreceivable

The Group has established a credit policy under which credit assessment imbdéntp check the credit worthiness
of major customers prior to signing the contract/accepting their purohdese

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impairaingrassessed by reference to customers
with appropriate and strong credit history, with minimal account ttsfand where the receivables are fully recovered
in the past. The Group recognizes provision for impairment of accaaativable that are assessed to have a significant
probability of becoming uncollectible and considering historical write-&fsdit and Collection Operations provide
inputs on the aging of financial assets on a periodic basis.
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23 FINANCIAL ASSETSAND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
233 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

2331 CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)

Accountsreceivable (continued)

The Group has two major customers represeri®®fp of total accounts receivable as at 31 December 2017 (31
December 201:81%and 1 January 2016: 34%). The rest of the balances do not haifieaid concentration of credit
risk, with exposure spread over large number of counterparties andeus.

As at 31 December, the age analysis of net accounts receivable is as follows:

31 December 31 December 1 January
2017 2016 2016
Current 576,791 688,293 355,096
Within two months 552,506 504,716 430,196
From two months to three months 168,925 156,827 119,765
More than three months 2,332,581 2,351,504 2,519,033
3,630,803 3,701,340 3,424,090

2332 LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficuity meeting obligations associated with financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s approach in managing liquidity is

to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquiditgé its liabilities when due without incurring
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The management closely and continuously monitors the liquiditypyiglerforming regular review of available funds,
present and future commitments, operating and capital expenditure. Moree@mtip monitors the actual cash flows
and seeks to match the maturity dates of its financial assets and its financitiegabil

The Group seeks continuously to comply with its legal obligatioofyding any, relating to its financing agreements.
The following represents the maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date tmasedliscounted contractual

cash flows:
Total

Lessthan one 1to5 Morethan 5 Carrying
contractual
year years years cash flows amount
At 31 December 2017
L oans and notes payable 2,201,319 10,321,059 5,799,298 18,321,676 14,879,672
Accounts payable 4,808,002 - - 4,808,002 4,808,002
Dueto related parties 92,590 - - 92,590 92,590
7,101,911 10,321,059 5,799,298 23,222,268 19,780,264
At 31 December 2016
Loans and notes payable 10,219,011 7,047,74C 1,918,157 19,184,90¢ 15,208,75:
Accounts payable 4,521,432 - - 4,521,43: 4,521,43:
Due to related parties 138,42C - - 138,42C 138,42C
14,878,86: 7,047,74C 1,918,157 23,844,76( 19,868,60¢
At 1 January 2016
Loans and notes payable 6,282,15(C 11,609,14¢ - 17,891,29¢ 14274,81F
Accounts payable 6,535,86¢ - - 6,535,86¢ 6,535,86¢
Due to related parties 210,97C - - 210,97C 210,97C
13,028,98¢ 11,609,14¢ - 24,638,13¢ 21,021,65!

57



Etihad Etisalat Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the yeaended31 December 2017
(All amounts in Saudi Riyals thousands unless otherwise stated)

23 FINANCIAL ASSETSAND LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

233 RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

23.33 MARKET RISK

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreigangechates, profit rates and equity prices will
affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management
is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parambilersptimizing the return.

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fatetdue to changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Group’s transactions are principally in Saudi Riyals and US Dollars. The Saudi Riyal is pegged to the US Dollar.

The management closely and continuously monitors the exchangieicaiatfons. Based on its experience and market
feedback, the management does not believe it is necessary to hedge thé feffeicfroexchange risks as most of the
transactions of foreign currency risk is relatively limited in the med&nm.

Profit ratesrisk

Profit rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flofva financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market profitites. The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in profit rates relates primarily to the
Group’s borrowings which were re-acquired to finance working capital requirements and capital expenditure. These
borrowings are re-priced on a periodic basis and expose the Grprgditoaterisk. The Group’s practice is to manage

its financing cost through optimizing available cash and minimizimgplaangs.

24 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and
to sustain future development of the business.

The Group monitors its capital base using a ratio of Net debt to Equity. Né$ daltulated as loans and notes payable
less cash and cash equivalents and held to maturity investments.

The Group’s Net debt to Equity ratio at the end of the year are as follows:

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
Loans and notes payable 14,879,672 15,208,753
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and held to maturity investmer (2,192,181) (1,216,109)
Net debt 12,687,491 13,992,644
Total equity 14,253,837 14,956,480
Net debt to Equity 0.89 0.94

25 STATUTORY RESERVE
In accordance with the Company’s By-Laws, the Company establishes at every financial year end a statutory reserve

by the appropriation of 10% of the annual net income until the reserve &q&alsf the share capital. This reserve is
not available for dividend distribution.
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26 REVENUE

Usage
Activation and subscription fees
Others

27 COST OF SALES

Network access charges

Rental and maintenance of network equipment expenses

Cost of utilized inventories

Government contribution fees in trade earnings
Frequency wave fees

National transmission and interconnection costs
License fees

Provision for inventory obsolescence

Others

28 SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES

Advertisement, promotion and sales commissions
Salaries, wages and employee benefits
Flagships rental expenses

29 GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Salaries, wages and employees’ benefits

Provision for doubtful debts

Maintenance

Rentals

Consulting and professional services
Management fees

Travel and transportation

Board of Directors’ remunerations and allowances
Others
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31 December 31 December
2017 2016
8,457,420 9,875,340
2,115,410 1,868,497
778,471 825,560
11,351,301 12,569,397
31 December 31 December
Note 2017 2016
1,666,480 2,036,157
1,333,061 1,170,272
626,430 682,578
679,395 709,731
154,019 142,291
110,277 126,286
49,339 51,561
10 (8,942) 20,804
210,935 204,432
4,820,994 5,144,112
31 December 31 December
2017 2016
466,500 592,527
687,573 607,711
80,030 69,930
1,234,103 1,270,168
31 December 31 December
Note 2017 2016
638,354 773,727
11 233,896 551,692
333,722 328,171
86,701 104,977
79,753 93,434
22,524 36,681
16,318 17,130
5,050 (649)
267,450 232,656
1,683,768 2,137,819
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30 FINANCE EXPENSES

31 December 31 December

Note 2017 2016
Financing cost 668,538 556414
Unwind of discount 9,905 9,970
678,443 566,384

31 BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss for the yeautiridto ordinary equity holders of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding theiggar.

The diluted loss per share is same as the basic loss per share as the €saugt Have any dilutive instruments in
issue.

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
Loss for the year (708,941) (213,636)
Weighted average number of shares 770,000 770,000
Basic and diluted loss per share (in SR) (0.92) (0.28)

32 COMMITMENTSAND CONTINGENCIES
32.1 Commitments

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessee
The Group has entered into various commercial leases. The lease terms are beteeerdtten years.

Future minimum rentals payable are as follows:

31 December 31 December 1 January
2017 2016 2016
Within one year 706,719 784,891 840,378
After one year but not more than five years 890,488 1,126,405 1,362,323
More than five years 233,984 354,537 475,089

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor
The Group has entered into various commercial leases. These leases have remainindgp&twasmfl month arith
years.

Future minimum rentals receivable are as follows:

31 December 31 December 1 January
2017 2016 2016
Within one year 877,624 773,466 601,615

Capital commitments

The Group has capital commitments resulting from contracts for soppitgperty and equipment, which were entered
into and not yet executed at the consolidated statement of financial position datammont of SR 1.97 billion as at
31 DecembeR017(31 December 2016: SR 2.4 billion and 1 January 2016: SR 4.5 billion)

As a result of frequencies auction held by CITC, the Companydeasintified that CITC intends to allocate 2x5 MHz
block after the Company meets the allocation requirements and paym#igeration for using the frequencies.
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32 COMMITMENTSAND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED)
Capital commitments (continued)

Once the conditions attached to the auction and the procedures of greetnsgd is completed the license to use
frequencies will be granted to the Company. The Company will incur a cagpadximately SR 422 million to acquire
the right of using these frequencies, 30% of which has been paidSepi€mber 2017 and the remaining 70% will be
paid in equal annual installments over a 10 years period.

32.2  Contingent liabilities

The Group had contingent liabilities in the form of letters of guarantee and tétbeeslit amounting to SR17million
as at 31 Decemb@017(31 December 2016: SR 658 million and 1 January 2016: SR 42@nnilli

The CITC’s violation committee has issued several penalty resolutions against the Group which the Group has opposed

to in accordance with the Telecom regulations. The reasons ofgsthgige resolutions vary between the manner
followed in issuing prepaid SIM Cards and providing promotions that hat been approved by CITC and/or other
reasons.

Multiple lawsuits were filed by the Group against CITC at the Board of Griesancerder to oppose to such
resolutions of the CITC’s violation committee in accordance with the Telecom regulations, as follows:

* There are (635) lawsuits filed by the Group against CITC amounting 8 3Rillion as of 31 December 2017.

* The Board of Grievance has issud#3) verdicts in favor of the Group voidin@@&3) resolutions of the CITC’s
violation committee with a total penalties amounting to48Rmillion as of 31 December 2017.

+ Some of these preliminary verdicts have become conclusive (after they were dffiynthe appeal court)
cancelling penalties with a total amounting to &2 million as of 31 Decembe&017.

In addition, 23 legal cases were filed by the Group against CITC in relation to the mechanissmicahting the
governmental fees and other subjects in which (16) of them ardicgdbcrelated to the governmental fees as of
31 December 2017, out of which the Group received eight prelimindgyrients and five final judgments in its favor
The remaining cases are still being adjudicated before the Board of Griellaadadfficult to determine the amount
of claims due to the difference in the calculation method. Although the &uonigelieves that these claims have no
legal basis, they may have a material impact on the Company’s business in case of retroactive change in the regulatory
framework which is difficult to assess.

The Group received additional claims from CITC during the year entldde8ember 2017 and has reassessed the
provisions required against the claims as at 31 December 2017 and hdsdesoappropriate estimate of the amount
that it may ultimately have to pay to settle such claims.

The Group is subject to litigations in the normal course of busiMEszagement and Board of Directors believe that
it has adequate and sufficient provisions based on the status of these Igigataf81 Decemb@017.

Furthermore, there atEr6 lawsduits filed by some of the shareholders against the Group bleéo@ommittee for the
Resolutions of Security Disputes and still being adjudicated by such itemnirhe Company has received 2
preliminary verdicts and41 final verdicts in its favoin these lawsuits anti3 cases have been either dismissed or
abandoned an20 cases are on-going as of 31 December 2017.
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33 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information regarding the Group’s operating segments is set out below in accordance with IFRS 8 Operating Segments.
IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of inegroidé that are regularly reviewed by the
Group’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) and used to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their
performance.

The Group is engaged in a single line of business, being the supgliyaafmmunications services and related products.
The majority of the Group’s revenues, profits and assets relate to its operations in Saudi Arabia. The operating segments
that are regularly reported to the CODM are Consumer, Business, Wholes&etaourcing.

The CODM used to receive other operational financial aggregates on a consolidgtethisvs the measure reported
to the Group’s Board of Directors for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

31 December 31 December
2017 2016

Consumer revenues 9,459,888 10,449,734
Business revenues 1,124,623 1,357,505
Wholesale revenues 676,982 696,565
Outsourcing revenues 89,808 65,593
Total revenue 11,351,301 12,569,397
Total cost of sales (4,820,994) (5,144,112)
Total operating expense (2,884,681) (3,356,780)
Depreciation and amortization (3,626,355) (3,781,829)
Total non-operating expense (666,802) (543,643)
Capital expenditures 2,268,293 3,212,232
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